
CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL

Monday, 29th January, 2018

1.00 pm

Darent Room, Sessions House, County Hall, Maidstone





AGENDA

CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL

Monday, 29th January, 2018, at 1.00 pm Ask for: Theresa Grayell
Darent Room, Sessions House, County Hall, 
Maidstone

Telephone 03000 416172
Tea/Coffee will be available 15 minutes before the meeting 

Membership 

Mrs A D Allen, MBE (Chairman), Mrs T Dean, MBE (Vice-Chairman), Ms A Brett, 
Mrs T Carpenter, Mr G Cooke, Mr T Doran, Ms S Dunn, Ms S Dunstan, Mr D Farrell, 
Ms L Fisher, Mrs L Game, Mrs S Gent, Mr R Graves, Mr S Gray, Mr S Griffiths, 
Ms S Hamilton, Mrs S Hammond, Mr A Heather, Mr G Lymer, Mrs C Moody, Ms C  Mutton, 
Mr M J Northey, Mrs S Prendergast, Ms N Sayer, Ms C Smith and Ms H Smith

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS
(During these items the meeting is likely to be open to the public)

The Chairman will assume that all Members will read the reports before attending the 
meeting.  Officers are asked to assume the same when introducing reports.

The Chairman will open the meeting.  If there is to be a visit from young people in care, the 
first item of business will be a motion to exclude the press and public for item 1, as set out 
below.

MOTION TO EXCLUDE PRESS AND PUBLIC FOR EXEMPT BUSINESS
That, under Section 100A of the Local Government Act 1972, the press and 
public be excluded from the meeting for the following business on the grounds 
that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in 
paragraphs 1 and 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act.

1 The views of Young People in Care (to be confirmed) 
When the agenda for this meeting was being planned, it was hoped that a party 
of young people would attend the start of the meeting to speak about their 
experiences of being in care, and it is still hoped that this can be arranged. 
However, at the time of publishing this agenda, it has not proved possible yet to 



confirm a visit. A revised agenda will be published if there is any change to 
announce. 

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS
(During these items the meeting is likely to be open the public)

2 Membership - to note recent changes to the Panel's membership 
The Panel is asked to note that:

a) Nancy Sayer, Designated Nurse for Looked After Children, has joined the 
Panel as an additional Health representative.

b) Caroline Smith, Interim Assistant Director of Corporate Parenting, has 
joined the Panel in place of Naintara Khosla.

3 Apologies and substitutes 

4 Minutes of the meeting of the Panel held on 9 November 2017 (Pages 7 - 16)

5 Chairman's Announcements 

6 Meeting dates 2018/19 
To note that the following dates have been reserved for the Panel’s meetings in 
2018/19.  All meetings will commence at 10.00 am at Sessions House. 

Thursday 22 March 2018
Friday 1 June 2018
Thurs 19 July 2018
Weds 19 September 2018
Thurs 1 November 2018
Tues 29 January 2019
Weds 27 March 2019

7 Verbal Update from Our Children and Young People's Council (OCYPC) 

8 Corporate Parenting Challenge Cards (Pages 17 - 20)

9 Verbal Update by Cabinet Member (Pages 21 - 22)

10 Virtual School Kent (VSK) Overview Report 2015-16 (validated results) and 
2016-17 (un-validated results) (Pages 23 - 50)

11 Young People Missing from Placement (Pages 51 - 60)

12 Review and Update of the Sufficiency, Placements and Commissioning Strategy 
2015 - 2018 (Pages 61 - 66)

13 Performance Scorecard for Children in Care (Pages 67 - 80)



EXEMPT ITEMS
(At the time of preparing the agenda, the only potential exempt item was item 1.  During this 

and any such items which may arise, the meeting is likely NOT to be open to the public)

Benjamin Watts
General Counsel
03000 416814

Friday, 19 January 2018

Please note that any background documents referred to in the accompanying papers 
maybe inspected by arrangement with the officer responsible for preparing the relevant 
report.



This page is intentionally left blank



KENT COUNTY COUNCIL

CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL

MINUTES of a meeting of the Corporate Parenting Panel held in Darent Room, 
Sessions House, County Hall, Maidstone on Thursday, 9 November 2017.

PRESENT: Mrs A D Allen, MBE (Chairman), Mrs T Dean, MBE (Vice-Chairman), 
Mr G Cooke, Mr T Doran, Ms S Dunstan, Ms M Emptage (Substitute for Ms S Dunn), 
Mr D Farrell, Mrs S Gent, Mr S Griffiths, Ms S Hamilton, Mrs S Hammond, 
Mr A Heather, Ms N Khosla, Mrs C Moody, Ms C  Mutton, Mr M J Northey and 
Mrs S Prendergast

ALSO PRESENT: Mr R W Gough and Ms N Sayer

IN ATTENDANCE: Miss K Mills (Commissioning Manager), Mrs M Robinson 
(Management Information Unit Service Manager), Ms C Smith (Interim Assistant 
Director for Corporate Parenting) and Miss T A Grayell (Democratic Services Officer)

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS

37. Membership 
(Item 1)

It was noted that Sarah Hammond, Interim Director of Specialist Children’s Services, 
had joined the Panel in place of Philip Segurola. 

38. Apologies and substitutes 
(Item 2)

Apologies for absence had been received from Alison Brett, Hazel Carpenter, Teresa 
Carpenter, Louise Fisher, Lesley Game, Reece Graves and Stephen Gray. 

Marian Emptage was present as a substitute for Sue Dunn.  

39. Minutes of the meeting of the Panel held on 18 September 2017 
(Item 3)

It was RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on 18 September 2017 are 
correctly recorded and they be signed by the Chairman.  There were no matters 
arising.  

40. Chairman's Announcements 
(Item 4)

The Chairman expressed her appreciation of the contribution made to the Panel by 
the Virtual School Kent Apprentices (VSK) and said that the Panel’s work would 
simply not be possible without them.   

Page 7

Agenda Item 4



41. Verbal Update from Our Children and Young People's Council (OCYPC) 
(Item 5)

1. Ms Mutton and Ms Dunstan gave a verbal update on the work of the OCYPC, 
the Super Council and the Young Adults Council. The text of the update would be 
attached to these minutes. They then responded to comments and questions from 
the Panel, including the following:-

a) participation events offering arts and crafts activities in the half-term 
holiday had been much appreciated by the young people who had 
attended them;   

b) the Virtual Triathlon to Calais and back again had so far raised £753 
towards the £1,000 target.  The distance covered was 142 miles in just 
under six hours, with which participants were very pleased; and 

c) the Christmas dinner being arranged in the Canterbury area for care 
leavers who would be alone on Christmas Day was part of a national 
scheme and was being trialled in Kent for the first time this year.  It was 
hoped that a larger event could be arranged for Christmas 2018. Details of 
the crowdfunding page which would be set up to support the event would 
be circulated to the Panel via the Democratic Services Officer.   

2. It was RESOLVED that the verbal update be noted, with thanks.  

42. Corporate Parenting Challenge Cards 
(Item 6)

1. Mr Doran introduced the report and said what a great initiative the challenge 
card process had proved to be and that it was an excellent example of a good 
process developed by young people to publicise and address issues raised by other 
young people in care. He added that the Young Lives Foundation was shortly to 
become involved in the development of the challenge card process, to help address 
the issues raised.       

2. He emphasised that the County Council had a policy of black sacks not being 
used at all when young people moved between placements, and aimed to see that all 
foster carers provided proper and appropriate luggage to be used on these 
occasions. This principal was included in the Foster Carers’ Handbook and in Foster 
Carer Skills training, at which the importance of it would always be stressed.  He said 
the complaint which gave rise to the challenge card may have related to one or two 
isolated incidents. However, there would need to be a way of dealing with complaints 
in cases where the policy was not being properly applied.  He responded to 
comments and questions from the Panel, including the following:-

a) black sacks could have been used to pack belongings for a variety of 
reasons, for instance if there were too much to fit into conventional luggage 
or boxes and black sacks had been used to pack the surplus. Although 
black sacks might prove convenient for this purpose, their use was not 
appropriate as they gave the impression of homelessness and that a young 
person’s possessions were not being valued or respected.  He said he 

Page 8



would seek to ensure that common sense was applied when helping any 
young person to pack up to move; 

b) asked who was expected to provide luggage, and if it might prove 
prohibitively expensive for foster carers hosting temporary placements to 
keep buying or lending luggage, when young people moved in and out 
frequently,  Mr Doran clarified that a child or young person should own their 
own luggage and should not have to borrow it each time they moved.  
Foster carers should ensure that children and young people in their care 
were provide with adequate and suitable luggage; 

c) a foster carer pointed out that luggage could be bought inexpensively. Most 
young people either arrived with their own luggage or had it bought for 
them by their foster carers. The use of black sacks was something not 
heard about for years and was hopefully very rare. However, it was an 
important point which needed to be addressed; and

d) other speakers expressed surprise that black sacks were still used as 
foster carers would receive notice that a young person was to move and 
would have time to organise in advance for their packing to be done 
properly.  It was important that all belongings were packed in suitable 
containers to avoid damage in transit. 

3. Ms Hammond added that the reported use of black sacks may have been 
associated with care leavers moving into independent or semi-independent 
accommodation and that foster carers may not be to blame. However, the principal of 
taking care and showing respect for someone’s belongings still applied. 

4. It was RESOLVED that the progress made to date on challenge card issues 
and the information given in response to comments and questions be noted, 
with thanks.       

43. Verbal Update by Cabinet Member for Children, Young People and 
Education 
(Item 7)

1. Mr R W Gough gave a verbal update on the following issues:-
2017 Examination results – examination results for summer 2017 had now been 
verified.  KS2 results had been the best ever, with a substantial overall increase 
since last year. Kent’s performance was above both the national and south east 
averages, and the national attainment gap at KS2 between children in care and their 
peers had narrowed.  These results were a great credit to the children in care and the 
support given to them by Virtual School Kent. 
More detail on KS4 results would be available in March as these were more difficult 
to verify but it was known that one UASC had achieved five passes at A* and one 
student with SEND had achieved four GCSE passes.  KS4 results were also more 
difficult to compare with peers, due to the changes made to GCSE examinations 
nationally and the impact of these upon children in care in particular. To help them 
manage placement moves and the resultant disruption to their education, children in 
care had relied upon their final result being based partly on their course work rather 
than solely on examination results, but the course work element had now been 

Page 9



removed. More change was due to come next year, which would add to the difficulty 
of comparing the overall picture to that of previous years. 
In terms of achievements at 16+, twenty young people had taken up university places 
in autumn 2017 and one VSK apprentice had passed NVQ Level 4 in Maths.  There 
had been much progress since 2014/15 in addressing the number of young people 
not in education, employment or training (NEETs).  The percentage of young people 
aged 16+ who were not in education, employment or training had fallen from 53% in 
2014/15 to just over 38% in 2015/16 and 17% in 2016/17 and was expected to fall 
below 14% by the end of the 2017/18 academic year. 
UASC update – as at 7 November, there were 344 UASC and 813 care leavers in 
Kent, but a substantial change was expected in January when many UASC would 
turn 18 and attain care leaver status.  So far in 2017, there had been 180 new 
arrivals (compared to 388 in 2016 and 948 in 2015) and the rate was staying low and 
steady. So far in 2017, 253 UASC had been placed with other local authorities via the 
national transfer scheme (NTS), although some local authorities were finding it 
difficult now to accommodate the numbers of UASC being sent to them. Mr Gough 
explained that he chaired the South East Strategic Partnership on Migration, which 
was monitoring and assessing the effectiveness of the NTS. Mr Gough and Paul 
Carter had recently met the Immigration Minister to discuss the funding issues faced 
by the County Council as the frontline authority hosting UASC new arrivals.  
Celebration events – VSK/16+; these were important in acknowledging and 
celebrating young people’s achievements beyond their academic career, eg 
commitment and contributions to the Children In Care Council.  This year’s awards 
event had taken place on 16 October at Canterbury cricket ground and had been an 
excellent, well-attended event. The Foster Carers awards event had taken place on 
4 October in Folkestone and had given an opportunity to acknowledge and celebrate 
the work of Kent’s foster carers in caring for, supporting and championing children 
and young people in care.   

2. Mr Gough responded to comments and questions about examination results, 
including the following:-

a) the excellent KS2 examination results were welcomed but disappointment 
expressed about the KS4 results and the difficulties arising from the 
national change in assessment at KS4.  However, as all pupils in the south 
east had experienced the same changes, it should still be possible to 
compare the attainment of children in care to that of their peers. The 
attainment gap between the two was still large and needed to be reduced. 
Mr Gough explained that it was not yet possible to make a comparison 
nationally of KS4 results, due to the changes to the assessment process 
made in the last year; 

b) Mr Doran added that KS4 achievements had been easier to support when 
VSK started, and Kent’s results used to be above the national average. He 
agreed with Mr Gough that children in care relied on being able to use 
course work modules towards their final examination mark and would now 
feel the loss of this benefit.  He added, however, that the performance of 
children in care had dipped when changes had been made previously, but 
had recovered once they settled into a new regime, and there was every 
reason to believe that performance would recover again. In response to a 
question about the extent to which the performance of children in care 

Page 10



could be compared to that of their peers, Mr Doran explained that it was 
difficult yet to see a clear picture and start to make a comparison; and

c) Mr Gough emphasised how much of an achievement the KS2 results were 
as this area had previously been weak in Kent.  Young people achieving 
good results at this stage were doing so against sharply-rising competition.

3. It was RESOLVED that the verbal updates be noted, with thanks, and that a 
review of academic attainment be made after March 2018, when more 
information would be available.       

44. Safer care for children living away from home 
(Item 8)

1. Ms Smith introduced the report and highlighted the key developments, 
including the spread of safeguarding training to all staff, foster carers and 
independent panel members, as well as to groups of young people, with appropriate 
support from Virtual School Kent and designated nurses for Looked After Children. 
Foster care households would be required to have a safe care plan for the family as 
well as an individual plan for each foster child.   In addition, Prevent training had been 
reviewed since the recent Parson’s Green terrorist event and had been shared with 
foster carers and staff, as well as independent fostering agency staff and providers of 
semi-independent accommodation. Ms Smith responded to comments and questions 
from the Panel, including the following:-

a) a foster carer on the Panel confirmed that she received both safeguarding 
and Prevent training and that her annual review meetings checked that this 
training had been given.  She said she had found the training helpful.  Ms 
Khosla added that foster carers had helped to develop both the 
safeguarding and Prevent training and thanked those present for their 
valuable participation.  Canterbury College had also been instrumental in 
spreading the training, added to wellbeing and  health issues, to groups of 
young women; 

 
b) asked if similar training would be made available to young men, Ms Khosla 

explained that, while most training for young people was made readily 
available to both genders equally, take-up of certain kinds of training 
tended to be lower among young women, so their groups had been set up 
to address this.  However, some of the issues covered by these groups 
had been requested by young men and would be extended to them; and

c) Ofsted had recognised Kent’s good work on training, and foster carers’ 
contribution to the good outcome of the most recent Ofsted inspection 
should be recognised and celebrated.   

2. It was RESOLVED that the information set out in the report, and given in 
response to comments and questions, be noted.   

45. Accommodation and housing options for 16/17 year old homeless young 
people, children in care and care leavers 
(Item 9)

Page 11



1. Miss Mills introduced the report and responded to comments and questions 
from the Panel, including the following:-

a) the accommodation options available for young people leaving care were 
welcomed as giving them an excellent opportunity to learn life skills such 
as budgeting and cooking; and

b) asked about the potential de-commissioning of the Millbank reception 
centre for UASC, Mr Gough explained that a decision on the future use of 
this centre had yet to be taken but confirmed that there were no plans 
currently to close it.  The County Council was currently looking into 
government funding for the establishment of a regional service centre.  The 
Panel would have regular updates on accommodation options for care 
leavers and further information on the use of this centre could be included 
then. 

2. It was RESOLVED that:- 

a) the plans to commission a new supported accommodation service, with a 
focus on a greater number of statutory service users;

b) the new protocol for 16- and 17- year-old homeless young people and the 
update on Homelessness Reduction Act 2017; and  

c) the current procurement of a new shared accommodation service,

be noted. 

46. Performance scorecard for Children in Care 
(Item 10)

1. Mrs Robinson introduced the report and summarised key areas of 
performance, including placement stability, the number of care leavers in education, 
employment or training, and work with NHS partners to improve the completion of 
health assessments for children in care within the required timescale.  Ms Sayer 
added that a similar challenge was being experienced within the NHS around the 
referrals process, which was being addressed with Ms Khosla. This joint work and 
the priority placed on this issue by KCC and NHS partners was welcomed. 

2. It was RESOLVED that the performance data in the children in care scorecard 
be noted, with thanks. 

Page 12



Thursday 9th November 2017

Corporate Parenting Panel Update- 

On behalf of the Children in Care Councils and Young Adult Council

October Half term Activity Days 

Over the October half term we held two Art Activity Days, one in East Kent 
(23rd October) and one in West Kent (25th October). We had 56 Children in Care 
in total attend these days which was set out in AM&PM sessions. They were 
very fun and messy!  We had three art stations where they made a Decoupage 
box, Decorated their name which reflected their interests and hobbies. The 
final station was for our annual Art Competition where the theme was 
Autumn.  We had 68 entries which is amazing! 

Super Council 

The Super Council had fun carving their pumpkins and writing about 
themselves for our new ‘Welcome Book’. This was an action from our County 
wide event we had in the Summer where we looked at the barriers young 
people face that prevent them from joining a children in Care Council. We 
believe that being able to share some information about the councils with 
potential new members will encourage membership.

OCYPC 

In this meeting our OCYPC members focused on writing their individual profiles 
to go into a ‘welcome book’ this will be for new members who have expressed 
interest in joining the Councils or for those who will be moving up a Council, 
this to make them feel more comfortable before they come along. The 
welcome book will contain information on all three of our Councils and their 
members. 

Page 13



YAC 

Members of KCC’s Young Adult Council have completed a virtual triathlon – 
running, walking, cycling and rowing from County Hall in Maidstone to Calais 
and back again. The virtual triathlon raised money for Canterbury’s Umbrella 
Centre, which provides support for people with mental health problems. The 
Virtual School Kent Apprentices helped to organise and support council 
meetings for children and young people in care and care leavers.

It was amazing to see our young people and staff of Kent County Council take 
part and donate to such a great cause. One of the YAC Challenge Cards was for 
Senior Officers and Members to show more support to their annual fund 
raising activity, so it was great that everyone got behind this event this year by 
sponsoring the event, making cakes and joining in themselves.

It has been a busy month for YAC; they also met up last week for their monthly 
meeting where we looked at the findings from the CentrePoint Research 
Launch on care leavers and housing that we attended in the summer. The key 
recommendations for policy and practice that we helped come up with are 
now summarised in their  report – Views from the frontline: what do young 
people need to move on from care successfully?

 

We are looking to support this research further by providing CentrePoint with 
some case studies from Kent and will be working on this project in upcoming 
weeks.

Other Work streams 

- Encouraged membership of YAC and supported the VSK Post16 Awards 
Ceremony

- Work with Canterbury Christ Church University - On 19th October Sophia 
and Reece headed to Canterbury Christ church university to talk to 

Page 14

https://centrepoint.org.uk/media/2186/views-from-the-frontline-final.pdf
https://centrepoint.org.uk/media/2186/views-from-the-frontline-final.pdf


students studying the social work degree. They discussed their 
experiences in care and the unique position that they have within Kent 
County Council, they then had the students complete two activities’ that 
would help them build their communication skills. Overall the 
experience was great and the students really benefited speaking to real 
service users. 

- Commissioning work –  We needed to widen our general framework of 
providers to increase the performance of making matches for 
placements and as a result our framework is now bigger, we needed to 
have a formal collaborative approach with Medway Council to reduce 
any potential competition for carers between the councils and make our 
demand more attractive to the market. We also want to create a small 
cohort of providers that were prepared to work in partnership with Kent 
and Medway helping us manage demand for placements and create 
more opportunities for placements to be made and to be successful. My 
involvement in this was to evaluate the Voice of the Child section, of Lot 
2.

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



From: Roger Gough, Cabinet Member for Children, Young People and 
Education

Matt Dunkley, Corporate Director for Children, Young People and 
Education.

To: Corporate Parenting Panel - 29 January 2018

Subject: Corporate Parenting Challenge Cards

Classification: Unrestricted 

Summary:

Recommendation:

This report provides Members with an overview of progress made on 
previous and current challenges to Corporate Parents. 
 
Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to consider and 
comment on the Challenge Card progress to date.

1. New Challenge Card Issued

1.1 A challenge was issued by the Young Adult Council (YAC)  in June 2017 – ‘if a young 
person over school leaving age decided to be fully independent and work full 
time paying their own rent, would KCC as a 'Corporate Parent' act as the young 
person's guarantor? This was looked into and the response to this challenge was 
‘KCC are not able to offer this but robust plans and procedures are in place to assist 
young people e.g. revised young person's pathway plan, transitions workshops, young 
person's work books’.

1.2 In July 2017, members of the VSK Participation Team, along with officers from the Care 
Leavers 18+ Service and the Assistant Director, Corporate Parenting attended the 
launch of CentrePoint’s research on care leavers and housing – ‘From care to where?’ 
The key recommendations for policy and practice that resulted from the day are 
summarised in this report – Views from the frontline: what do young people need to 
move on from care successfully?

1.3 One of the recommendations in the report identified the need for Care Leavers to have 
sufficient money to pay rent and a deposit; and that local authorities should act as 
guarantors (as care leavers often do not have family members who can do this). The 
recommendation advises that a clear contract should be established which sets out the 
maximum guarantee they are willing to provide plus deposit terms and conditions.

1.4 The Young Adult Council (YAC) reviewed the findings of the report at their meeting on 
the 2 November 2017. In line with the CentrePoint report recommendation, the YAC has 
requested that this challenge is revisited and consideration given to reviewing whether 
anything further that could be done to support Care Leavers with the need to secure a 
rent guarantor. This would be in addition to the deposit and rent in advance which is 
already funded for care leavers. 

1.5 In response Officers of the Council are currently seeking further legal advice about this 
matter, and details of any financial implications are also being explored. An update to 
this Challenge will be presented at the March meeting of the Corporate Parenting Panel.

Page 17

Agenda Item 8

http://www.centrepoint.org.uk/careleavers
https://centrepoint.org.uk/media/2186/views-from-the-frontline-final.pdf
https://centrepoint.org.uk/media/2186/views-from-the-frontline-final.pdf


2. Challenge Cards Update

3.1    Previous Challenge:

No Bin Bag Policy

When moving or leaving foster care provision, young people have to pack up all 
of their belongings when they move placement or go to live independently or 
semi-independently. The challenge issued suggests that black bags are used on 
occasion. This can make them feel particularly worthless at what already could be 
a difficult time for them. It was also thought the use of black sacks could signify 
that they are portrayed as ‘rubbish’ and of little value. 

YAC would like their Corporate Parents to review the ‘no bin bags’ policy and to 
ensure that all young people are provided with a suitcase or appropriate 
containers for moving home to enable them to pack up their belongings.

3.2 The Young Adult Council was updated at their meeting on the 2 November 2017 with 
the information discussed at the Children In Care (CIC) meeting on the 17 October 
2017. They were informed that there was already a policy in place that stated that bin 
bags should not be used to move young people and that this information was reiterated 
in the Skills to Foster Training. The Young Adult Council were advised that this policy 
was currently being reviewed and relaunched with a higher profile. The Young Adult 
Council reported that they were very pleased that the issue was being looked into again 
to ensure that this issue does not happen in Kent.

3.3 Previous Challenge:

YAC would like Senior Staff, Members and Corporate Parents to support the 
upcoming charity fundraiser Virtual Triathlon.

3.4 YAC reported that they were very happy with the support given this year to their annual 
fundraiser. The day was very successful with £810.47 raised in sponsorship. YAC would 
like to thank Officers and Elected Members for their support and will be looking for a 
new charity to support in 2018 

3. Other Updates

4.1    There are no further updates at this time.

4. Recommendation

5.1 Recommendation:  Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to 
CONSIDER AND COMMENT on the Challenge Care progress to date

5. Lead Officer
Tony Doran
Headteacher – Virtual School Kent  
Tony.doran@kent.gov.uk
07821 038094

Page 18

mailto:Tony.doran@kent.gov.uk


 
Lead Director
Sarah Hammond
Interim Director, Specialist Children’s Services
Sarah.Hammond@kent.gov.uk 
03000 411488

6.       Background documents:  none

Page 19

mailto:Sarah.Hammond@kent.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



By: Roger Gough, Cabinet Member for Children, Young People and 
Education.

To: Corporate Parenting Panel – 29 January 2018

Subject: Verbal Update by the Cabinet Member 

Classification: Unrestricted

The Panel is invited to note verbal updates on the following issues:-

1. Ofsted 'annual conversation'

2. Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children (UASC) update

Page 21

Agenda Item 9



This page is intentionally left blank



From:           Roger Gough, Cabinet Member for Children, Young People and Education.

Matt Dunkley, Corporate Director for Children, Young People and 
Education.

To: Corporate Parenting Panel – 29 January 2018

Subject: VIRTUAL SCHOOL KENT (VSK) OVERVIEW REPORT 2015-16 
(VALIDATED RESULTS) AND 2016-17 (UN-VALIDATED RESULTS)

Classification: Unrestricted

Summary: This overview report provides Members with an outline of the impact of 
VSK and priorities for the Virtual School Head Teacher 

Recommendation: The Corporate Parenting Panel is asked to CONSIDER and COMMENT on 
the impact of the Virtual School in relation to its performance in 2015 – 17 
and agree its priorities for 2018 - 19.

1. Introduction

1.1 This report summarises the achievements and impact of the Virtual School Kent (VSK) 
through the academic years 2015-16 and 2016-17 in relation to Children in Care and their 
education. 

1.2 Data is presented on key issues and outcomes across Key stages and Not in Education, 
Employment and Training (NEET) figures.  

1.3 Information on participation and engagement is evidenced as well as notable successes 
during this period.  

2. Executive Summary

2.1 The 2015-16 academic year was a successful one for VSK students. The year saw 
unprecedented national changes in educational assessment, yet the majority of our 
students made good or better progress throughout the academic year. It also saw the best 
Key Stage 4 outcomes for our young people since the DfE changed the assessment 
methodology to first entry only in 2013. Furthermore the Virtual School has evidenced a 
significant drop in 16-18 year olds that are Not in Education, Employment or Training 
(NEET) and 7 young people successfully gained entry to their chosen universities. 

2.2 The latest data evidences that academic year 2016-17 has been equally successful as the 
previous year for our young people. Despite significant national changes to Key Stage 4 
assessment and curriculum which have made it impossible to do comparative analysis on 
previous years outcomes, there have been notable individual performances including one 
of our UASC attaining 5 good GCSE Grades (C and above) including English and 
Mathematics despite being in the country only two years. Key Stage 2 performance has 
seen a significant improvement over last year’s and is the best Children in Care have ever 
achieved. 

Page 23

Agenda Item 10



2.3 Our young people have outperformed the National and South East Average for Children in 
Care in every indicator at the end of KS2. In addition to this, their rate of progress in 
reducing the gap between Children in Care and National All Learners in the significant 
Combined Measure is outstanding, reducing it to just 23.7% which is a 62.2 percentage 
improvement for Children in Care on last year. At the other end of the spectrum we 
continue to see positive momentum in reducing our 16-18 year old NEETs whilst seeing a 
dramatic improvement in the number of university entrants with 21 successfully gaining 
entrance in September 2017.

2.4 There have been a multitude of success stories this year, evidenced at our Annual Awards 
Ceremony held at Kent County Cricket Ground in Canterbury. The young people who 
attended had been nominated by their schools, social worker, foster carer or the Virtual 
School for their academic successes or their wider contribution to the school, home or 
community. Over 300 nominations were received in 2016-2017 making it our most 
successful year ever.

2.5 The Virtual School has significantly developed participation and engagement this 
academic year which has seen the further development of our Young Adults Council 
(YAC), the strengthening of the Our Children and Young People’s Council (OCYPC) with 
local councils being piloted across the county and the introduction of our junior council 
known as the “Super Council”. We have increased the number of activity days that we host 
from 14 activity days in 2013-14 to 19 days in 2016-2017, with a resultant increase in the 
number of our young people who have been able to attend. The feedback from our young 
people on the activity days remains extremely positive. 

2.6 Although 2016-2017 has been an extremely positive year for our Children in Care and 
young care leavers, we want all our young people within the Virtual School to continue this 
journey of improvement and our support in 2017-18 will reflect this ambition.

3. Conclusions

3.1 VSK has made significant contribution to positive outcomes for Kent Children in Care 
during this period and this was evidenced in the Ofsted report as well as in the academic 
and NEET data. Based on analysis of the data in this report and changes in the 
educational climate, VSK’s priorities for 2017-18 are as follows:-

   Continuing drive on improving academic outcomes. Particular focus on KS4, where the 
biggest gap exists. 

   Developing systems to respond to the assessment changes that came in 2017 around 
Achievement and Progress 8.

   Relentless drive on securing opportunities to transition our Young People from NEET 
into education, employment or training

   Particular focus on our young people with SEND, ensuring progression is maximised.
   Focus on developing the quality of Personal Education Plans (PEPs) and practice 

development meetings to drive up standards and quality.
   Development of an academic assessment tool to enable accurate profiling of need 

when a young person enters care.
   Looking to develop Kent’s own Participation & Engagement Quality Mark to replace the 

Lilac Award.

Page 24



   Translating the positive work of Participation & Engagement into measurable impact 
outcomes i.e. “You said We did”, changes in Policy and changes in service delivery. 

3.2  Children In Care Council developments will include: 

 Developing local Children in Care groups - these groups are constantly developing and 
changing depending on the needs and views of our children and young people. We are 
aware that we need to ensure that we are being inclusive and aim to create more local 
groups that feed into a central group during the coming year.

 Further development of the junior element of the Children in Care Council with the aim of 
younger children becoming involved in the participation and engagement process. This will 
provide a forum for younger children to have their own say on issues around the care 
system, but in a less structured and formal environment.

 Looking at ways to ensure that the views and opinions of Children in Care who live in other 
local authorities are heard. We are keen to improve our links with other local authority 
Participation Teams and have a ‘sharing of ideas and ways of working day’ with Surrey 
County Council.  We are also working in partnership with our digital services team to look 
at ways of communication via social media.

4. Background Documents: none

5.      Recommendations: 

The Corporate Parenting Panel is asked to CONSIDER and COMMENT on the impact of 
the Virtual School in relation to its performance in 2015 – 17 and agree its priorities for 
2018 - 19 
 

6. Contact Details

6.1 Lead Officer
Tony Doran

  Headteacher, Virtual School Kent  
Tony.Doran@kent.gov.uk 

  
6.2 Lead Director

Sarah Hammond
Interim Director, Specialist Children’s Services
Sarah.Hammond@kent.gov.uk 

Page 25

mailto:Tony.Doran@kent.gov.uk
mailto:Sarah.Hammond@kent.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1

Virtual School Kent
Overview Report 2016/2017

Page 27



Contents

1. Executive Summary Page 3

2. Demographics Page 5

3. Attainment – Analysis of reporting years 
2016 (Validated)

Page 6

4. Attendance and Exclusion Page 10

5. Attainment Summer 2017 (Un-validated) Page 12

6. Participation & Engagement Page 15

7. Pupil Premium Plus (PP+) Page 19

8. Priorities for 2017-2018 Page 22

Related Plans and Strategies
Promoting the Education of Looked After Children-Statutory 
Guidance for Local Authorities (DfE July 2014) 

Pupil Premium and the role of the Virtual School Head (DfE March 
2014) 

KCC Every Day Matters – Children and Young People’s Strategic 
Plan 2013-2016

Children in Care Sufficiency Strategy 2015 – 2018

Looked after Children and Care Leavers Strategy 2015-2016

Page 28



Executive Summary
The vision for the Virtual School (VS) is that all our Children in Care (CIC) achieve 
expected or better than expected levels of progress and that the difference between their 
achievement and non-CIC is diminished. This will be achieved through working at a 
strategic and operational level within the local authority and with the many partners of 
schools, health, voluntary sector, members, carers and young people. 

The work of the Virtual School falls into three categories:
 Operational support for children and young people through effective locality team 

support 
 Training for multi-agency professionals, elected members and carers
 Tracking, monitoring and evaluating outcomes and practice, identifying and 

securing service improvements.

The Virtual School has grown to include CIC beyond the statutory schooling age of 5-16 
and we aspire to be a 0-25 years’ service. We are already including Early Years and 16-
18 year olds and have extended the Care Council to 21 year olds. 

Regarding attainment, last year’s validated results were extremely positive. The Key 
Stage 2 Year 6 cohort size of Children in Care 12 months or greater in 2016 was 79. 
Data indicated excellent outcomes in that they attained broadly in line with National 
Averages in all indicators and performed overall better than the South East Average. This 
was despite 50 (63%) of this cohort having Special Educational Needs and 17 having a 
statement/Education, Health and Care Plan (EHCP). It is also encouraging that the 
summer 2017 results show record performances although only internally validated at this 
point.

The Key Stage 4 Year 11 cohort size of Kent’s Children in Care 12 months or greater in 
2016 was 140. Kent attained broadly in line with National Average in the new Attainment 
8 and Progress 8 measures but outperformed both National and South East averages for 
the final indicator A*-C in English and Mathematics by 2.5% and 3.6% respectively. This 
is despite 62 (44%) of this cohort having Special Educational Needs and 39 (28%) of 
them having a statement /EHCP. This is broadly in line with line national average for Key 
Stage 4 LAC where 27% over this time period had EHCP’s or statements in place.

The 16+ data indicated a total cohort of 944 of which 602 (64%) were Unaccompanied 
Asylum Seeking Children (UASC) at the start of the academic year. Of this 944, 158 
(16%) were classified as Not in Education, Employment or Training (NEET) and by the 
end of the academic year there were no Not Knowns and only 25 identified as Missing. 
We continue to drive NEET figures even lower and are able to develop strategies to cope 
with seasonal peaks. 

Persistent Absence has seen a 2% point reduction and is now in line with National 
Average and 1% below that of the South East Average. We have also evidenced a 
significant reduction of 35% in our young people placed on a reduced time table (RTT) 
and positive activity regarding Fixed Term Exclusions (FTEx) with a 6.5% reduction over 
the past 3 years.  In addition there have been no Permanent Exclusions (PEx) for the 
past 2 years.

Page 29



The Virtual School has significantly developed participation and engagement this 
academic year. A Young Adults Council (YAC) has been developed, Our Children and 
Young People’s Council (OCYPC) continues to strengthen and a junior council (“Super 
Council”) has been introduced. The number of activity days that we host is increased 
from 19 in 2015-16 to 24 days in 2016-2017. The feedback from our young people on the 
activity days remains extremely positive. 

Other significant developments include embedding the process of the Challenge Cards; a 
system where our young people can challenge their Corporate Parents and responsible 
officers and these are discussed at the Children in Care management meeting and at 
Corporate Parenting Panel (CPP). The responses are formalised and fed back to our 
young people via the Young Adults Council. Ensuring our young people play a part in 
recruitment and training has been a priority with the development of the Recruitment 
Crew and a series of training events. Ten young people have been involved so far this 
year in 35 interview panels and 10 ‘Skills to Foster’ panels. The VS has also trained and 
accredited 16 Young people via the Lazer award ‘Service User Recruitment’.

There have been a multitude of success stories this year, evidenced at our Annual 
Awards Ceremony held at the Kent County Cricket Ground in Canterbury. The Virtual 
School received well over 300 nominations in 2016-2017 making it our most successful 
year ever.

Research from the Sutton Trust* and the Rees Centre** indicates there are key ‘risk 
factors’ which have an impact on our children’s attainment and progress in school. We 
have used Pupil Premium Plus funding to focus on aspects that have the biggest impact 
on these areas i.e. narrowing the attainment gap, reducing risk of exclusion, supporting 
emotional well-being/mental health, increasing attendance, improving social relationships 
and transition. As a result, the amount spent on each child varies, led by need; during 
2016-2017 Pupil Premium Plus funding was spent with good impact and no money 
returned to national government.

This academic year was punctuated with the Ofsted Single Inspection which was an 
extremely positive experience for our service. We are extremely proud that the team’s 
dedication, commitment and expertise is recognised in this report. In summary, the 
Virtual School was identified as:

 Improving educational outcomes at end of the key stages and supporting good 
progress following placement stability; also diminishing the difference between CIC 
and non-CIC learners and using Pupil Premium + and PEPs well to achieve this.

 Ensuring that managers and staff enable active participation of Young people in 
service improvements, such as the new pathway plan and the recruitment of staff. 

 Supporting the large majority of Children in Care to attend schools judged by Ofsted 
to be good or outstanding. 

 Supporting the attendance of all children looked after up to the age of 16 to be 90% 
and to have no permanent exclusions as well as decreasing numbers of those 
experiencing fixed-term exclusions over the previous year to January 2017. 

 Developing three Children in Care Councils for different age groups and using these 
to support the child's voice being heard by the Corporate Parenting Panel.

Page 30



Undoubtedly 2016-2017 has been a positive year for our Children In Care and we want 
to continue this journey of improvement in outcomes for them. The ambitions and 
aspirations of the Virtual School are closely linked within our Service Improvement Plan 
2016-18 in that :

 The Virtual School will continually monitor its structure ensuring high quality support 
and value for money within the national context of austerity.

 The Virtual School will sustain its relentless drive on raising the progress and 
achievement of our Young people and fully utilise educational planning to achieve 
this.

 The Virtual School will continue its drive to reduce the number of Young people not 
engaged in Education, Employment or Training (NEET).

 The Virtual School is looking to increase its digital footprint with involving our Young 
people in the development of Kent Cares Town and other digital media projects.

*       https://www.suttontrust.com/about-us/education-endowment-foundation/

** http://reescentre.education.ox.ac.uk/research/educational-progress-of-looked-after-   
children

Demographics
At the end of June 2017, academic year 2016-2017, the Virtual School had responsibility 
for 2261 Children in Care and Care Leavers.  There are 122 children at Early Years 
Foundation Stage (Pre-school to Reception), 1163 in Years 1-11 and 976 in Years 12 
and 13 (16-18 year olds). The demographic profile of our looked after children (LAC) 
remains broadly unchanged; 64% of compulsory school age Children in Care are of 
secondary school age, the majority being 14 years old and over. The profile of our Year 
12 and 13s has altered; the 16+ data indicates a total cohort of 944 at the start of the 
academic year, of which 602 (64%) are UASC.

Ethnically the profiles of our Children in Care are predominantly White British (73%) in 
relation to the compulsory school age cohort. The other significant cohorts are African at 
4.4%, any other White background 4.06% and a cohort classified as other ethnic group at 
8.2%. 

Geographical dispersal of our Children in Care of compulsory school age remains dis-
proportionally in East Kent with 41.50%, South Kent 21.22%, West Kent 10.23%, North 
Kent 12.43% and 13% placed out of county of which 4.82% in Medway. 

We currently have 284 Children in Care of statutory school age who have a statutory 
statement of special educational needs or an Education Health and Care Plan (EHCP)

77.1% of our Children In Care of compulsory school age are in schools rated by Ofsted 
as Good or outstanding (15.07%-Outstanding). 13.97% are in schools rated as Requires 
Improvement (RI) and 2% in schools rated Inadequate.  The young people in the last two 

Page 31

https://www.suttontrust.com/about-us/education-endowment-foundation/
http://reescentre.education.ox.ac.uk/research/educational-progress-of-looked-after-%20%20%20children
http://reescentre.education.ox.ac.uk/research/educational-progress-of-looked-after-%20%20%20children


categories are closely monitored and are receiving a good education. There are a further 
2% who are currently not on a school role for a multitude of reasons such as currently 
being assessed at a reception centre, missing, awaiting specialist SEN provision and 
complex needs.

Attainment
Latest Validated Outcomes (March 2017)  

The latest validated outcomes for attainment of Children in Care were released by the 
DFE as part of the statistical first release on 31 March 2016. This data covers outcomes 
from the 15/16 academic year and relates to children who have been in care for 12 
months of more. The teacher-assessment results for KS2 achieving EXS (Working at the 
Expected Standard) are shown below:

Key Stage 2 Outcomes

England LAC South East LAC Kent LAC National All Learners Kent All Learners
0

20
40
60
80

Key Stage 2 Percentage Achieving EXS or Higher in Reading, 
Writing and Maths

0
10
20
30
40
50

Reading (test)
Writing 
(teacher 

assessment)

Mathematics 
(test)

Grammar, 
punctuation 
and spelling 

(test)

Reading, 
Writing and 

Maths

National LAC 41 46 41 44 25
South East LAC 41 46 37 40 24
Kent LAC 41 49 42 43 23

Percentage Key Stage 2 LAC Reaching EXS or Above 

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge

Page 32



 The Key Stage 2 cohort size of Children in Care 12 months or greater in 2016 was 
79. This cohort represents 6.34% of Kent’s Children in Care population who have 
been in care 12 months or greater.

 Kent attained broadly in line with National Averages in all indicators and 
performed overall better than the South East Average. This is an excellent 
outcome considering that 50 of this cohort (63%) had Special Educational Needs. 
17 had a statement or EHCP in place, 21.25% of the cohort. The SEN cohort is 
slightly above the national average where 57% of LAC continuously looked after 
for 12 months had special educational needs. Although in line with the national 
average for Key Stage 2 LAC where 21% had EHCP’s or statements in place. 
This cohort was 65% male which was slightly below the Kent LAC all LAC figures 
which stood at 69% male.

 The average Strengths & Difficulties Questionnaire (SDQ) score of this cohort was 
14.6 which is borderline and suggests some emotional difficulties. This is however 
in line with Kent and South East figures over the same period which stood at 14.6 
but above the national figures for LAC which were 13.9 over this same period.

 This cohort had an average number of placement moves within 12 months of 2.7. 
Comparable national figures are not available; however the current average 
number placement moves for all Kent CIC is 1.51 in a year which gives a broad 
indication that this was above average. This is concerning as placement changes 
during key educational years must be avoided if at all possible. The Virtual School 
is actively working with the Fostering service to address this issue and is 
supporting the Sense of Belonging programme which helps to improve placement 
stability.

Key Stage 4 Outcomes

Attainment and Progress 8

0 50 100

National All

England - All LAC

South East LAC

Kent LAC

Average 
Attainment 
8 Score

Average Attainment 8 
Score 2016

Nati
onal 

All

Engla
nd LA

C

So
uth East

 LA
C

Kent L
AC

-1.5

-1

-0.5

0

0.5

Average 
Progress 8 score

Average Progress 8 
Score 2016

Page 33



0
5

10
15
20
25

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016
ENGLAND 15.4 16.2 14.3 15.9 17.5
SOUTH EAST 11.9 12.1 14.3 16.7 16.4
KENT 15.3 15.3 12.1 14.4 20

Percentage Achieved A*-C in Eng & 
Maths

Ye
ar

 The Key Stage 4 Year 11 cohort size of Kent’s Children in Care 12 months or 
greater in 2016 was 140. This cohort represents 11% of the total Children in Care 
population who have been in care 12 months or longer.

 Kent attained broadly in line with National in the new Attainment 8 and Progress 8 
measures but outperformed both National and South East averages for the final 
indicator A*-C in English and Mathematics by 2.5% and 3.6% respectively.

 62 of this cohort (44%) had Special Educational Needs. 39 had a statement or 
EHCP in place, which is 28% of the cohort. This is broadly in line with line national 
average for Key Stage 4 LAC where 27% over this time period had EHCPs or 
statements in place.

 The cohort is male dominated with 59% male which was slightly above the 
national average LAC for Key Stage 4 which stood at 54% male.

 This cohort had an average number of placement moves within 12 months of 3. 
Comparable national figures are not available: however the current average 
number placement moves for all Kent CIC is 1.51 which gives a broad indication 
that this was above average. This is concerning as placement changes during key 
educational years must be avoided if at all possible. The Virtual School is actively 
working with the Fostering service to address this issue and is supporting the 
Sense of Belonging programme. Also of note is the worrying trend of our young 
people coming later into care. This cohort had an average period of care duration 
of 99 weeks in care. Comparable national data does not exist; however our 
current LAC who have been in care over a year have an average period of care 
duration of 206 weeks, which gives a broad indication that this cohort had a period 
of care duration below the average in Kent. This highlights that a significant 
proportion of our young people in this indicator entered care in Year 9 and Year 
10, leaving the Virtual School less time to accelerate learning to get them back on 
track.

Key Stage 5 – NEET to EET

During the period between September 2015 and December 2015 there was a focus on 
data cleansing. The issues of data within the IYSS educational data system was been 
compounded by the significant increases in new UASC arrivals. By December 2015, the 
true level of the NEET was known and being managed within the VSK.

Page 34



The development of the Corporate Parenting Transitions Policy “Education, Training and 
Employment – Key Stage 4 and Beyond” has unquestionably supported the delivery in 
improved NEET to EET outcomes. The policy coordinates the roles, responsibilities of all 
departments into a clear procedural framework. The policy was developed by the Virtual 
School 16+ team in conjunction with multi agency partners, especially Skills and 
Employability. The policy has also been supported at the NEET interdependency 
meetings where its impact has been evident with live data for the 16 to 18 year old cohort 
and the 18+ cohort shared and wider services having increasing awareness of the need 
to prioritise of Children in Care and Care Leavers. 

In December 2015, the cohort of Year 12 and 13 students that VSK had responsibility for 
supporting was 989. Of this cohort 653 were UASC (66%), 263 were classified as NEET 
(26.6%) and Not Knowns (NK) were 261(26.4%) giving a total NEET/NK of 53%. 

The current data shows that the total cohort of our Year 12 and 13’s has altered in 2016-
17 ; the 16+ data indicates a total cohort of 944 at the start of the academic year 2016-
17, of which 602 (64%) are UASC.  Of this 944, 158 (16.7%) were classified as NEET 
and by the end of the academic year Not Knowns (NK) were 0 with only 25 (2.6%) 
identified as Missing. The total NEET/NK figure reduced from 53% in the previous year 
down to 19.06% and then a further reduction to 18.12% was achieved through the 
academic year 2016-17. We continue to drive NEET figures even lower and are able to 
develop strategies to cope with seasonal peaks. 

Now that NEET numbers are low, we are able to identify seasonal peaks, for example 
July’s figure always rises between ending a study programme and starting another in 
September. This explains the slight rise in NEET figures between December 2016 and 
July 2017.Our robust tracking and monitoring of our YP now enables us to compare 
seasonal data as well as week by week and it can be seen that the NEET percentage 
between July 2016 and July 2017 has seen a reduction of 6% points and a 27.4% point 
reduction over the past two years.

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

Jul-15 Jan-16 Jul-16 Jan-17 Jul-17
Percentage NEET and NK 48

Percentage NEET and NK

Ax
is

 T
itl

e

Page 35



Attendance and Exclusion Trend Breakdown
Persistent Absence for Kent LAC has shown a 2 percentage point decline over the period 
15/16 with Kent outperforming the South East in persistent absentee rates and narrowing 
the gap to just +0.2% over the rates of Persistent Absence in LAC in England. Therefore 
Children in Care are classified as broadly in line with National Average for Children in 
Care.

0.0

2.0

4.0

6.0

8.0

10.0

12.0

2013 2014 2015 2016
ENGLAND 10.1 8.9 9.0 9.1
SOUTH EAST 10.7 10.4 10.6 10.3
Kent 8.9 10.7 11.3 9.3

Percentage of Looked After Children Classed 
as Persistent Absentees 

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge

2017 Prediction – Attendance

Attendance has been carefully monitored across the 16/17 academic year with multiple 
factors highlighted through the use of Venn Diagrams. As at the end of May 2017 no 
permanent exclusions for Kent LAC had been recorded. By this same time period there 
were 996 LAC who had been in care for a year or longer, of those 10% had a Fixed Term 
Exclusion (FTexc) over the 16/17 period.  111 were currently being monitored as having 
Persistent Absence (11%) and this figure is expected to decline as the number of 
sessions it is possible to attend across the academic year increases.

LAC on reduced time tables (RTT) have been carefully monitored across the academic 
year, Venn diagrams have been used to highlight the multiple factors which impact upon 
this cohort’s attendance. The number of LAC on RTT has shown a reduction across the 
year from a high in March of 32 to 21 in May a reduction of 35%.  

Page 36



Exclusion

13/14 14/15 15/16 16/17
0

1

2

3

4

Number Permanent 
Exclusion

Permenant Exclusion Kent LAC 2013 - 
2017

Academic Year

N
um

be
r o

f I
ns

ta
nc

es

Ac. Year ‘09/10 ‘10/11 ‘11/12 ‘12/13 ‘13/14 ‘14/15 ‘15/16 ‘16/17

  
0.36% 0.00% 0.00%

% 
Permanent 
Exclusion

1% 0.90% 0.54% 0.39% 0.39%
  

Children in Care can evidence a significant reduction in permanent exclusion over the 
past 8 years with a 54% reduction between 2010 and 2015. This has now been 
surpassed by now going two full academic years without a permanent exclusion.  Fixed 
term exclusions across the entire cohort over the 15/16 period have shown a steady 
decrease over time with the percentage of LAC with a FTExc dropping 6.5% points over 
the last three years.

13/14 14/15 15/16 16/17
0.00%

5.00%

10.00%

15.00%

20.00%

Percentage Cohort
Linear (Percentage 
Cohort)

Fixed Term Exclusions Kent LAC 2013 - 
2017

Academic Year

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge
 S

ch
oo

l A
ge

 C
oh

or
t

Page 37



Attainment Summer 2017 (Un-validated)
Due to the timing of this report only un-validated outcomes are available (validation 
occurs in March 2018). 

Key Stage 2 Summer 2017 (unvalidated)

End of KS2 
RESULTS for 
KENT CIC

% achieved 
Expected 
Level in 
Reading

% 
achieved 
Expected 
Level in 
Writing

% achieved 
Expected 
Level in 

GPS*

% achieved 
Expected 
Level in 
Maths

% achieved 
Expected 
Level in 

Combined

% 45.30% 52.00% 49.30% 45.30% 37.30%

*Grammar, Punctuation and Spelling test

Direction of Travel from Summer 2016 to Summer 2017:

Curriculum 
Area

% change

Reading +11

Writing +6

GPS +15

Maths +8

Combined +62.2

Diminishing the Difference/Narrowing the Gap

Indicator
County All 
Learners

Gap between Kent CIC 
& County all Learners

National All 
Learners

Gap between 
Kent CIC & 
National All 
Learners

Reading 74% 28.70% 71 25.70%

Writing 80% 28.00% 76 24.00%

Maths 76% 30.70% 75 29.70%

Combined 64% 26.70% 61 23.70%

Page 38



Indicator National 
Average for 
CIC

Kent CIC performance 
comparison to 
National Average for 
CIC

SE average for 
CIC

Kent CIC 
performance 
comparison to 
SE average for 
CIC

Reading 41% +4% 41 +4

Writing 46% +6% 46 +6

Maths 41% +4% 37 +8.3

GPS 44% +5.3% 40 +9.3

Combined 25% +12% 24 +13.3

Headlines
 Children in Care have outperformed the National Average for Children in Care and 

the South East average for Children in Care in every single indicator at end of 
KS2.

 Outstanding Progress in reducing the gap between Children in Care and National 
All Learners in the significant Combined Measure to just 23.7% which is a 62.2 
percentage improvement for Children in Care on last year.

 The gap between Children in Care and All Learners across Kent is now under 
29% in all Literacy elements and under 31% in Maths.

 Reduction of the gap between Children in Care and All Learners Nationally in 
Writing – this is now only at 24%. Historically this has been a weaker subject area 
for Children in Care and indicates that targeted work has reaped results.

 The same performance measures have been in place for 2 years and this has 
enabled VSK to embed well targeted interventions and support Children in Care to 
achieve very good progress on the indicators achieved and diminish the gap even 
further.

Key Stage 4 Summer 2017(Unvalidated)
Indicator Achieved 4 or 

above in an 
English GCSE

Achieved 4 or 
above in 
Maths GCSE

Achieved 4 or 
above in 
English & 
Maths at 
GCSE

Achieved 5 A*-
C including 
English & 
Maths GCSE

% of Kent CIC 
achieving 
indicator

20.3% 16% 11% 8.13%

Page 39



Indicator Achieved 4 or 
above in 
English GCSE 

Achieved 4 or 
above in 
Maths GCSE

Achieved 4 or 
above in 
English & 
Maths at 
GCSE

Achieved 5 A*-
C inc English 
& Maths GCSE

National All 
Learners

70% (Lang)

72.5% (Lit)

71% 71% Not a 
performance 
indicator

County All 
Learners

Not yet 
published

Not yet 
published

64.8% (gained 
a “good 
grade”)

Not a 
performance 
indicator

Headlines

 First year of new performance measures so no year on year comparison available 
for all indicators.  

 The move to linear GCSEs (ie no coursework element) is recognised as being 
likely to have had relatively more impact on vulnerable students such as Children 
in Care. A negative impact was predicted and support was targeted to minimise 
the effect on outcomes.

 There was a reformed curriculum in the three Core subject areas of English 
Language, English Literature and Maths. Grade boundaries were also 
acknowledged by schools as difficult to predict across the country, which led to 
increased uncertainty.

 IGCSE English has not been able to count towards the English GCSE attainment 
measure for the first time this year and a significant percentage of Children in 
Care were entered for this historically. The shorter course offered the opportunity 
for young people to study the course and take the exam in a shorter time than the 
standard GCSE English courses.

 Increased risk is predicted around Children in Care performance measures at KS4 
for next year when a level 5 is needed to achieve a C equivalent rather than a 4.

 The other performance indicators for scores in Attainment 8, Progress 8 and 
Ebacc will be able to be collected from school’s data in the Statistical First 
Release.

 However, notable individual successes were achieved despite considerable 
barriers –for example one UASC achieved 5 A*-C including English and Maths 
despite being in the country for only approximately 2 years. One special school 
student (with social, economic and mental health issues, ASD and Learning 
difficulties) achieved 4 GCSE passes.

Post 16 NEET to EET
Year Total yp NEET % % change

2015-16 894 38.2 -

2016-17 949 17 -56

2017-18 593 13.8 -19

Page 40



Headlines

 Year on year improving trend in reducing young people who are NEET
 A significant percentage change of 64% in reducing young people who are NEET 

from 2015-16 to 2017-18.

Participation & Engagement Academic Year 
2016/17
The Participation & Engagement team sit within VSK and comprises a Participation Co-
ordinator, Care Leaver Apprentices whose apprenticeships and work streams are 
supported by VSK’s School Bursar and Project Officer, and a care-experienced 
Participation Support Assistant.

Since the team’s conception in 2012, VSK has supported twelve Care Leavers in 
undertaking Level 2 Apprenticeships in Business & Administration and also studied 
Functional Skills Level 1 or 2, five of whom received financial support from the Assisted 
Apprenticeship Scheme and seven of whom were funded from VSK’s core budget. 
During their time with VSK all of the apprentices are required to work towards their NVQ 
qualification in Business and Administration at level 2 or 3. Each week one day is set 
aside to allow the apprentices to study and complete coursework in a supportive 
environment. This programme allows VSK to ensure that the apprentices leaving have a 
good qualification and a better chance at finding employment in the future. Also, as care 
leavers themselves, they often have gaps in their education and the qualification enables 
them to gain the necessary qualifications in Maths, English and ICT that they may not 
have achieved when they were at school or college.

VSK have responsibility for developing and supporting Children in Care Councils. The 
councils comprise of 3 groups of children and Young people:

 YAC (Young Adult Council) for Young people aged 16-21 
 OCYPC (Our Children & Young people’s Council) for those 

aged 11-16 
 Super Council a new group established in 2016 for younger 

children aged 7-11

These councils provide an essential forum for Children in 
Care to speak up and affect change in the care system. The 
younger councils meet on a regular basis in the school 
holidays and YAC meets in the evening on a monthly basis.

Membership of YAC is growing, and the young people combine social activities, life skills 
sessions (e.g. cooking on a budget and basic first aid) with more formal meetings. They 
have contributed so far this year to the Care Leaver 18+ Service new Pathway Plans, 
the new Transitions to Independence Workbooks, the Missing Children Focus Group 
and have been involved in planning fund raising activities for local and national charities.

Page 41



The OCYPC is well established and meets regularly. It has a strong core membership 
and includes several asylum-seeking young people. It has a constitution written by the 
council members, with the addition to the constitution being a Pledge agreed by 
Corporate Parenting to support the Councils. It recognises that there is work to be done 
to ensure the views of our Out of County Children are also represented.

The Super Council for younger members was set up as a ‘feeder’ group for the 
OCYPC. Meetings are activity based, with the emphasis on fun. Children have however 
expressed their views on feelings on matters such as – what they think a good social 
worker and foster carer should look and behave like. 

During the Whitsun half term, the Super Council and OCYPC attended a joint activity 
day to support the planned transition of some of the older Super Council members to 
step up to OCYPC.

The apprentices within VSK (who are Care Leavers) facilitate these groups with the 
assistance of the Participation Team and others within the service.  Meetings have been 
attended by the Leader of the Council, Cabinet Member for Children, Young people & 
Education, Assistant Director of Corporate Parenting, Head of the Care Leaver 18+ 
Service and other lead officers.

 No of Young people who have attended the Children in Care Councils since 
September 2016
Super Council (7 to 11 years) 17
OCYPC (11 to 16 years) 19
YAC (16 to 21 years) 22

Participation Activity Days September 2016 – June 2017

VSK run Participation Activity days during every school holiday. Between September 
2016 and June 2017 12 events were held, attended by 273 children and Young people. 
 VSK also ran 12 additional Participation Activity Days during the summer break 2017, 
therefore at 24 Activity days 16/17 has been our most successful. These days give 
Young people an opportunity to meet other Children in Care and establish friendships. 
Activity days are developed in response to feedback from Young people via evaluation 
forms completed after every event and so far have included activities from art to gliding 
and theatre performance to horse riding.

The Participation Team has also supported events organised by the District Social 
Care Teams including the South Kent Children in Care Christmas Party.

Challenge Cards 

Through consultation with Corporate Parenting Panel and Children in Care the 
Participation Team has developed the concept of ‘challenge cards.’ These cards allow 
Children in Care and care leavers to challenge their Corporate Parents around issues 
facing them in care.  

Page 42



Kent Cares Town Website 

The ‘Kent Cares Town’ website is a resource for Children in Care to access a wealth of 
information around being in care. A large part of the content for this site has been written 
and designed by the participation apprentices. The website continues to be a work in 
progress and will be having a refresh of contents in the coming months. The link is 
www.kentcarestown.lea.kent.sch.uk 

Newsletters 

VSK apprentices create a junior and a senior newsletter 3 times a year which is 
distributed to Children in Care and colleagues and more recently has developed a 
newsletter for Young people aged 16 and over. They are an opportunity to promote some 
of the positive work that Young people are involved in around the county. These can be 
viewed at: http://kentcarestown.lea.kent.sch.uk/our-news  . In Spring 2017 the first 
newsletter pack was sent out to Children in Care looked after out of county and included 
a newsletter, information about Challenge Cards, Corporate Parents and the 
Participation Team. A bookmark competition was also held for these young people.

Recruit Crew 

The VSK Participation & Engagement Team supports Children in Care and care leavers 
involvement in recruitment panels or inclusion on a professionals’ panel. These are a 
common occurrence within SCS for the Director/Assistant Director posts, Senior Officers, 
IROs and newly qualified social worker posts. 10 Young people were involved supporting 
35 interview panels and 10 Skills to Foster panels. The Service User Recruitment 1 day 
Training Programme that is accredited through Laser has now trained 16 Young people 
to date. Also, increased involvement of our Young people in recruiting to and training 
students at Canterbury Christ Church University and the University of Kent has ensured 
that young people are involved right from the beginning of a social workers journey.

Kent Pledge Cards 

Although the Kent Pledge is an important document a lot of Young people found it 
difficult to understand. Based on this feedback, the Participation Team has been 
instrumental in working with the Communications Team to design a Young Person 
friendly version. This version takes the essence of the Kent Pledge and delivers it on a 
pack of eight cards which have been designed with Children and Young people in mind. 
Two sets of cards have been created to reflect the differing levels of understanding of 
Children and Young people. These cards are included in the ‘coming in to care pack. 

Coming into Care Pack 

The VSK Participation & Engagement team has led on the creation of a ‘coming into care 
pack’ so that essential information can be given by social workers both to children 
coming in to care and in some cases to those who are already in care. Consultations 
have also taken place with Young people throughout the process. 

The information is also hosted on the Kent Cares Town website: 
http://kentcarestown.lea.kent.sch.uk/information-about-being-in-care 

Page 43

https://kccwebmail.kent.gov.uk/owa/redir.aspx?C=zsxusjiOkwUHSDOnLL8XfLg632yf4OZuNrDZ8Zk2dLM8XKQrmX3TCA..&URL=http%3a%2f%2fwww.kentcarestown.lea.kent.sch.uk
https://kccwebmail.kent.gov.uk/owa/redir.aspx?C=NXHpMCKOAoHKU7D391j_a5nYKqCyGkH1sf0ETlJAJOQ8XKQrmX3TCA..&URL=http%3a%2f%2fkentcarestown.lea.kent.sch.uk%2four-news
http://kentcarestown.lea.kent.sch.uk/information-about-being-in-care


Locality/District Commitments 

The participation team engages with districts social work teams, the IRO Service and 
partners across Kent to promote participation and engagement.  

Hearing the voice of Children in Care and Care Leavers

Surveys - The participation team work hard to ensure children and young people have 
their voices heard by ensuring they have the opportunity to complete surveys relating to 
being in care or just being a Young Person.

Focus Groups – The participation team facilitate focus groups to ensure that Members, 
KCC and partner agencies are hearing the views and opinions of Children in Care and 
Care Leavers. The Young Adult Council has recently supported the Missing Children 
Focus Group work stream, resulting in some very tangible changes to our processes and 
procedures as a direct result of their input.

Supporting Care Planning – DVD produced in conjunction with the IRO Service to 
promote Young people’s participation in their reviews. 

Awards Ceremony 

Each year the Virtual School Kent holds awards ceremony to celebrate achievements 
throughout the year. The participation team support this event by arranging some of the 
entertainment and activities for the Children and Young people as well as encouraging 
them to give their feedback and ideas. The participation apprentices also give a 
presentation at this event which helps to keep their colleagues informed about what 
participation and engagement has been taking place throughout the year. They also feed 
into the 16+ Awards Ceremony by using the event to promote awareness around the 
Young Adult Council (YAC).

Buddying Support 

VSK Apprentices provide ‘buddying’ support when asked to do by social workers. This 
has included working with a young lady in care experiencing anxiety issues. Sessions 
initially delivered in the home, then supporting her to attend both the Super Council and 
activity days. She is now a regular attendee and her Foster Carer reports significant 
improvements in her confidence and self-esteem.

Training

In conjunction with the fostering service and a Practice Development Officer, VSK 
Participation & Engagement care leaver apprentices are involved in the design and 
delivery of workshops focusing on improving Participation & Engagement. These are 
presented at an audience of social workers, IROs and foster carers. A total of six 
workshops were delivered between September 2016 and June 2017. Care leavers are 
also involved in the ‘skills to foster’ training that is organised and facilitated by the 
fostering services. They are actively involved and their views of prospective carers are 
taken into consideration by the assessing fostering social worker. 

Page 44



Influencing the Commissioning of services

Formal and informal forums for Children in Care and Care Leavers to meet and inform 
service design and delivery which are going from strength to strength with increased 
membership and more consistent attendance. The groups have been consulted on a 
variety of topics including the 0-25 Accommodation Strategy and the review of Pathway 
Plans. Challenge Cards have been established which allow these forums to ‘Challenge’ 
the corporate parent on issues and areas of policy or social work practice they feel needs 
changing.  Also, a senior apprentice has been nominated as a ‘Commissioning 
Champion’, supporting the Sense of Belonging commissioning as well as supporting our 
Super Council and OCYPC members to feed into the Independent Fostering Provider 
commissioning process, producing a Top 10 Qualities of a Foster Carer document as 
part of the tendering and evaluation processes. 

Improving Communication

 A web based App, MOMO (Mind of My Own), is being rolled out by SCS and DCS after 
a successful pilot. The App provides a mechanism for Children and Young people to tell 
their social workers and IRO’s what they think about the services they receive and about 
their care plan. The VSK apprentices were part of the consultation process and will assist 
in the roll out of the project. KCC has also agreed to roll out MOMO Express, an App 
enabling younger Children and Young people with learning disabilities to participate in 
the same way as the MOMO App.

Representation at Regional and National Initiatives

The VSK Participation & Engagement Team represent KCC at a variety of regional and 
national initiative such as the NCB: Taking it to the Next Level workshop, Who Cares 
Trust groups, APPG meetings, and the Launch of the Children’s Commissioner’s annual 
report.  A regional Children in Care Council (CICC) meeting took place in August 2017 
and representatives from VSK CICCs were active participants.

Children in Care Pupil Premium Grant (PP+)
Pupil Premium Plus 2016/17:

The Virtual School Kent continues to retain responsibility for the Pupil Premium+ Grant 
for Children in Care. The grant is used to improve outcomes and ‘narrow the 
achievement gap’ identified for individual children and young people using the targets set 
within their electronic Personal Education Plan (ePEP) in consultation with VSK and the 
Designated Teacher, as well a number of collaborative initiatives put in place by VSK.

The payment of this funding to schools in the 2016/17 financial year was initially £900 per 
child in care paid in three £300 instalments in June, November and February. This 
payment was made in response to a full consultation with Head Teachers and ensures 
that the funding follows the child if they change schools. Additional funding was provided 
according entirely to the needs of the child and as in previous years no maximum amount 
restriction was placed. The funding is ring-fenced for making improvements for the 
educational attainment of all Children in Care.

Page 45



The final position for the 2016/17 budget allocation was £3,081,700; an increase of 
£376,200 from 2015/16. The budget allocation was calculated via the March 2016 LAC 
Data Return (SSDA903) as set out in paragraph 10 of the conditions of grant and is 
based on £1,900 per child. Notification of £376,200 of this provision came very late in the 
year; therefore £299,900 remains in a reserve provision and is available for the Virtual 
School Kent’s use in 2017/18 in terms 5 and 6.

£2,781,800 was spent in 2016/17 with a total amount of £3,381,600 available to spend in 
2017/18.

Data within this section relates to the financial period April 2016 – March 2017.

The application process continued to be successfully managed online via the Target 
Section of ePEP with the number of online approved applications from schools standing 
at 1728 in 2016/17. Of these applications, 211 were applications in respect of 
unaccompanied asylum seeking children. In addition to online applications, a number of 
interventions and support programmes for citizen and unaccompanied asylum seeking 
children were put into place directly by VSK as countywide or locality based initiatives, 
equating to £291,160 (10% of the total amount spent.) These initiatives were directly 
commissioned by VSK and included literacy development programmes, maths support, 
educational psychology services, and speech and language support.

A total of £934,167 (34% of the budget) was paid directly to schools in respect of £900 
per child in care on roll, a further £1,302,659 (47% of the budget) was paid out in funding 
applications that had been reviewed, approved and evaluated by VSK. £253,814 (9.1%) 
was spent directly on staffing.

34%

47%

9% 10%
Direct payment to schools

Applications from schools

Staffing

Countywide Initiatives

PP+ 2016/17 - Spend Breakdown

Pupil Premium+ expenditure is broken down into spend per locality with the largest 
amount spend in East Kent where the highest numbers of Children in Care continue to 
attend school and where a number of complex Children in Care reside due to the location 
of specialist care settings.

Page 46



29%

20%12%
13%

5%
2% 10% 9%

East Kent
South Kent
North Kent
West Kent
Out of Authority
Medway
Countywide Initiatives
Staffing

2016/17 - 
Spend by Locality 

1396 Children in Care have received some form of PP+ funding, making the average 
payment to each child £1,992.70. However payment amounts vary from large to small, 
for example a payment with respect to one individual totalled a spend of £18,533 over 
the one year period - this was for a bespoke package around education provision for an 
extremely complex case.

PP+ 16/17 Outturn – Number of Pupils  
Kent Nursery 7
Kent - Primary 395
Kent - Secondary 673
Kent - Independent 36
Kent - Free School 6
Kent - Special School 173
 Alternative Curriculum/Other Provisions 20
Other Local Authority  School 93

1396

The grant has been used, as in previous years for a wide range of interventions and 
activities including supporting a fostering placement stability programme, nurture groups, 
ipad lending libraries, life coaching, mindfulness projects, speech and language therapy, 
educational psychology support, therapy/counselling, paired reading projects and horse 
riding activities to encourage confidence.

The outcomes of these projects have been evaluated and impact measures are very 
positive. For example 91% of children accessing a therapy intervention made 
measurable positive progress on the Leuven or Clinical Risk scales. Additionally, the 
Educational Psychology Service ran a BEAT project (Beating Exam Anxiety Together) 
and had good results where the average score of the group reduced on the Penn State 
Worry Scale by an average of 9 points from 62 to 53, indicating a good reduction in 
anxiety around exams.

Page 47



Additional tuition is known to be an effective use of PP+; in particular for those in year 10 
and 11 who are working towards their GCSE examinations. VSK directly engaged tuition 
providers at a cost of £123,057. In addition to this schools also commissioned additional 
tutoring through their own staff and agencies from the direct funding payment of £900 
they received.

Throughout the year, 12 members of staff were employed directly by VSK in various 
posts to provide additional direct working and support at a cost of £253,814.

Early Years PP:

£300 for Children in Care in early years settings is paid to the early years provider in 
three instalments of £100. An example of this funding making a difference in a nursery 
setting is to deliver the Early Years Talk Boost programme to develop our young children 
in care’s speech and language. This programme helps develop early language skills that 
may need enhancing with the use of story sacks, small groups work and can help the 
nursery to identify Speech and Language (SAL) issues early.

£10,900 was paid to Early Years settings in 2016/17 in respect of 72 children.

Priorities for 2017-18
 Continuing drive on improving academic outcomes. Particular focus on KS4 where 

the biggest gap exists. 
 Developing systems alongside the assessment changes that came in 2017 around 

Achievement and Progress 8.
 Relentless drive on securing opportunities to transition our young people from NEET 

to EET.
 Particular focus on our young people with SEND ensuring progression is maximised.
 Focus on developing the quality of PEPs (utilising the Pupil Premium Plus conditions 

of grant as a lever) and practice development meetings to drive up standards and 
quality.

 Development of an academic assessment tool to enable accurate profiling of need 
when a young person enters care.

 Looking to develop Kent’s own Participation & Engagement Quality Mark to replace 
the Lilac Award.

 Translating the positive work of Participation & Engagement into measurable impact 
outcomes i.e. “You said We did”, changes in Policy and changes in service delivery. 

These developments will include: 

 Developing local Children in Care groups - these groups are constantly 
developing and changing depending on the needs and views of our young people. 
We are aware that we need to ensure that we are being inclusive of all young 
people and aim to create more local groups that feed in to a central group during the 
coming year.

 Further development of the junior element of the Children in Care Council with the 
aim of younger children becoming involved in the Participation & Engagement 
process. This will provide a forum for younger children to have their own say on 

Page 48



issues around the care system, but in a less structured and formal environment.

 Looking at ways to ensure that the views and opinions of Children in Care who live 
in other local authorities are heard. We are keen to improve our links with other local 
authority Participation Teams and have a ‘sharing of ideas and ways of working day’ 
with Surrey County Council. We are also working in partnership with our digital 
services team to look at ways of communication via social media.

      Recommendations:

      Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to:

 CONSIDER and COMMENT ON the impact of the Virtual School in relation to its 
performance and endorse its priorities for 2017-18

Page 49



This page is intentionally left blank



From: Roger Gough, Cabinet Member for Children, Young People and 
Education

Matt Dunkley, Corporate Director for Children, Young People and 
Education

To: Corporate Parenting Panel – 29 January 2018 

Subject: YOUNG PEOPLE MISSING FROM PLACEMENT

Classification: Unrestricted

Executive Summary

This report provides an analysis into the response of Kent County Council and its partner 
agencies when children who are Looked After go missing from care.

1 Introduction 

1.1 A report was commissioned by Corporate Parenting Panel to review the 
response of Kent County Council and its partner agencies when children who are 
looked after go missing from care.  Analysis was undertaken in November 2017 
and the results of relevant audits, working groups and policy changes have been 
brought together to produce this report. 

1.2 The period reviewed in this report is 12 months from November 2016 to October 
2017. In this period the number of children who are looked after including 
Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children (UASC) decreased.  The influx of UASC 
in 2015 had a significant impact on the number of looked after children in Kent; 
however many of these young people have now reached the age of 18 years and 
have moved into the Leaving Care Service. The number of citizen looked after 
children has remained relatively consistent around 1400; nevertheless our focus 
and scrutiny  around  missing episodes and the risks associated with these is now 

Summary: This report provides an analysis of the response of Kent 
County Council and its partner agencies when children who 
are looked after go missing from care.  The vast majority of 
looked after children do not have any missing episodes. The 
proportion of looked after children who frequently go missing is 
small and there is a comprehensive multi-agency risk 
management response for these children.  This report looks at 
the enhanced services that are on offer to support risk 
management and the reduction in the number of missing 
episodes.

Recommendation: The Corporate Parenting Panel is asked to CONSIDER AND 
COMMENT on the current practice challenges faced when 
looked after children go missing and the work being 
undertaken to better understand the circumstances that lead to 
missing episodes and the steps being taken to mitigate risks 
as much as possible

Page 51

Agenda Item 11



firmly embedded in our operational practices and is updated and adapted in 
accordance with local and national learning.

1.3 The rate of looked after children going missing has increased over the last year; 
however this increase is largely attributable to the changes we have made to the 
way in which the data is captured and reported rather than an actual increase. 
During Ofsted’s inspection in March 2017, the inspectors commented that they were 
very impressed with Kent’s dataset for missing children, referring to it as a ‘gold 
standard for recording missing episodes’.

1.4 Kent routinely offers returner interviews to children that have gone missing. This 
helps to develop our understanding of why a child has gone missing from their point 
of view so that interventions can be tailored to their individual needs.

1.5 This report investigates whether there are any specific areas requiring further focus 
for looked after children who go missing. The main aims are:

 To review whether current performance is consistent with, or improving on, 
historical performance;

 To investigate the factors contributing to a child going missing; and
 To inform Corporate Parenting Panel of the current practice challenges.

2.0 Impact of Other Local Authority Activity

2.1 At the end of October 2017, Kent had 1742 open looked after children cases 
including both citizen and UASC children. Other local authorities (OLAs) had 1337 
children placed in Kent.

2.2 The high number of other local authority children placed in Kent’s independent 
sector causes a scarcity in foster placements. This means there is competition in 
the recruitment of foster carers and pressure on local resources with increased 
numbers of children in the county. The issue of local authorities placing children in 
Kent has been raised with the Department for Education and also the Children’s 
Commissioner.  Kent liaises with local authorities whose children go missing to 
advise of safeguarding risks and ensure that the Care Planning Regulations1 have 
been adhered to. 

2.3 Other Local Authority children have been excluded from further analysis as Kent 
advises a child’s home local authority of any missing episodes we are made aware 

1 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/441643/Children_Act_Guidance_20
15.pdf

Page 52



of and these should then be managed by the home local authority.  Kent does not 
have responsibility for conducting the return missing interviews for these children.

3.0 KCC’s Practice Response to Missing Children

3.1 KCC has a robust multi-agency response to children and young people that go 
missing. At the point of notification, a number of databases are cross-referenced 
(including Youth Justice, Children Missing  Education and ‘Risk of CSE’ flags) to 
highlight any associated risks for that young person so that the level of response is 
appropriate and the right professionals can be involved to manage any risks.

4.0 Analysis Results

4.1  Between October 2016 and September 2017, 20% of all KCC’s looked after 
children were recorded as missing at least once (379 children). 59% of these 
children had only one or two missing episodes over the course of a year. When 
compared to those statistical neighbours of KCC that also have ‘good’ Ofsted 
judgements, KCC has the median number of missing or absent incidents per looked 
after child (0.71). KCC is also below the average for England (0.79) and the South 
East (0.75). 

4.2  There was an increase in the number of citizen looked after children going missing 
between May and October 2017 when compared to the same period in the previous 
year. This may be due to an improvement in recording as there has been a drive to 
ensure that all periods where a child is missing from placement are reported even if 
they would have previously only been considered ‘absent’. Also, through effective 
cross-agency working, the data capture of missing episodes has also become 
much more robust. 

4.3 The number of UASC looked after children going missing has reduced by 57%. 
This is in part due to the fact that the numbers of UASC entering the UK in Kent 
dropped between 2016 and 2017 and also the impact of the National Transfer 
Scheme which means that young people are only in Kent for a relatively short 
space of time.

Page 53



Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct
0

20

40

60

80

100

15/16 Kent CIC Children 16/17 Kent CIC Children
15/16 UASC CIC Children 16/17 UASC CIC Children

Number of CLA That Go Missing Each Month

Month that R.I. is Due

N
um

be
r o

f C
hi

ld
re

n

4.4 As part of Ofsted’s report published in June 2017 from their inspection of children’s 
services, they commented that: “Arrangements for tracking missing unaccompanied 
asylum-seeking children are rigorous. A panel provides management oversight of 
those children who are missing, or at high risk of harm, to ensure that risks are 
understood and minimised when possible. “  The same process is applied to citizen 
looked after children that go missing.

 5.0  Returner Interviews

5.1 In line with national guidance, it is KCC’s policy that children should be offered a 
returner interview within 3 working days of them returning to their placement. This is 
not always possible if a child goes missing again within 3 working days of returning. 
Of those episodes where there was not a subsequent episode within 3 working 
days, returner interviews were offered in 98% of episodes.

 
5.2 87% of the returner interviews completed for citizen looked after children occurred 

within the 3 working day timescale. The majority of the remainder are completed 
within a week.

5.3 Young people do, however, have the option to refuse a returner interview. The 
proportion of citizen looked after children wanting a returner interview has remained 
fairly constant at around 74% over the last 2 years.

5.4 As part of a Missing Children Focus Group that took place in April 2017, one of the 
young people made the following comments about timescales:

“It’s not helpful to ask us to talk about why we went missing as soon as we 
return. We might not feel like talking about this straight away as we will have 
our own feelings to deal with – give us some space before asking us to talk.”

Page 54



In some of the cases it is helpful for a young person to have more time to process 
their thoughts, enabling them to be clearer and more open about why they went 
missing.

5.5  As a result of this, the Young Lives Foundation offer (which is available to young 
people to have independent returner interviews) is now being extended to offer 
extra returner interviews outside of the 3 working day timescales in order to get a 
more general and considered view of why the young person is going missing and 
what could be put in place to avoid it.

6.0  Reasons Why Citizen Looked After Children Go Missing

Se
ek

in
g 

co
nt

ac
t w

ith
 

fa
m

ily
/f

rie
nd

s/
bo

yf
rie

nd
/g

irl
fr

ie
nd

Re
as

on
 u

nk
no

w
n/

no
ne

 o
f 

th
e 

ab
ov

e

U
nh

ap
py

/d
isa

gr
ee

m
en

t i
n 

ho
m

e 
or

 c
ar

e 
se

tt
in

g

In
te

rv
ie

w
 d

ec
lin

ed

Ju
st

 st
ay

ed
 o

ut
/t

o 
cl

ea
r 

m
y 

he
ad

Su
bs

ta
nc

e 
m

isu
se

 –
 D

ru
gs

, 
al

co
ho

l o
r s

m
ok

in
g

In
vo

lv
ed

 in
 c

rim
in

al
 

ac
tiv

ity

Av
oi

di
ng

 e
du

ca
tio

n 
or

 
tr

ua
nt

in
g

Su
sp

ec
te

d 
ga

ng
 

in
vo

lv
em

en
t

U
na

bl
e 

to
 c

on
ta

ct
 h

om
e 

or
 re

tu
rn

 h
om

e,
 in

cl
ud

in
g 

m
isu

nd
er

st
an

di
ng

Su
sp

ec
te

d 
se

xu
al

 
ex

pl
oi

ta
tio

n 
(u

se
 C

SE
 

To
ol

ki
t)

Re
la

tio
ns

hi
p 

iss
ue

s 
(in

cl
ud

in
g 

co
nt

ro
l a

nd
 

ab
us

e 
w

ith
in

 a
 

re
la

tio
ns

hi
p)

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

Top 12 Reasons that Citizen CLA Go Missing
(between Oct '16 and Sep '17)

Reason Given for Going Missing

N
um

be
r o

f C
iti

ze
n 

CL
A 

Ep
is

od
es

6.1 56% of citizen looked after children missing episodes occur because the child was 
seeking contact with family/friends/boyfriend/girlfriend. This reason is more than 5 
times more common than the next significant reason. It has become an increasing 
feature in the reasons for being missing and SCS are working hard to ensure that 
arrangements are in place for children and young people to remain connected to 
their families wherever possible.

6.2 Improvements to placement arrangement meetings rolled out in July 2017 are part 
of a strategy to improve placement stability. These improvements include greater 
consideration of contact arrangements and important family member relationships, 

Page 55



which are particularly important in tackling the biggest reason for looked after 
children going missing.

6.3 We would not expect to see an immediate impact from this as it will only impact 
those children who have moved into a new placement since July 2017. Regular 
reporting and auditing is used to monitor the completion and quality of these 
placement arrangement meetings. With time and continued focus on the practice of 
these meetings, we expect to see a reduction in the frequency and duration of 
missing episodes for looked after children.

7.0 Risk Management for Young People that Go Missing

7.1 Children in care are some of the most vulnerable people in society due to their 
experiences of abuse, neglect and trauma which means that, if they go missing, it 
can leave them susceptible to further physical and sexual abuse, child trafficking or 
exploitation.

7.2  As a result, these issues are taken very seriously by Specialist Children’s Services 
and the Kent Safeguarding Children Board. Among other things, there is an 
effective multi-agency coordinated response and the interfaces are now well 
established between social workers, Missing Children Laison Officers (MCLOs), the 
Child Sexual Exploitation Team (CSET) and the Missing Children Exploitation 
Team (MCET).

7.3  In order to identify these risks, which are often concealed, it is vital that returner 
interviews remain meaningful. Good practice is constantly being reinforced to 
frontline staff through: supervision; dedicated Practice Development Officers; 
regular joint delivery of returner interview workshops with Kent police; and the new 
‘CSE & Missing Newsletter’ that goes out to all SCS staff.

8.0 Conclusions

8.1   What’s Working Well?

8.1.1 Kent has a robust process and comprehensive practice response for children going 
missing. There are well established interfaces between social workers, the Child 
Sexual Exploitation Team and relevant partner agencies including police and health 
colleagues. Data is used effectively to cross-reference multiple systems when a 
missing notification comes in, so that the social worker is aware of any other 
relevant factors. 

8.1.2 There is much evidence of collaborative working across agencies.  In a multi-
agency audit published by the Kent Safeguarding Children Board it was highlighted 

Page 56



that engagement with young people was effective where professionals: planned 
their work together; were persistent and skilled in engaging with young people; and 
understood their specific needs and strengths as well as the impact of abuse and 
trauma.

8.1.3 Children are being routinely offered returner interviews in nearly all cases. There is 
evidence that the methodology underpinning Signs of Safety is being implemented 
and the tenacity and perseverance of professionals is evident throughout.

8.1.4 The proportion of UASC looked after children who went missing over the last year 
has reduced.

 
8.1.5 The proportion of children refusing returner interviews has not increased over the 

last year. Of the returner interviews that occur, 87% are completed within 3 working 
days, with further completion just outside of the 3 day timescale.

8.2  What are We Worried About?

8.2.1 The number of citizen looked after children going missing has recently increased. 
We have seen this level out over the last few months and we will expect this to 
reduce as other initiatives start to show results.

 
8.2.2 Young people who frequently go missing are more likely to be putting themselves at 

risk of exploitation. Awareness around this issue is being firmly embedded within 
the frontline, to make sure they exercise their professional curiosity and ask the 
right questions to identify these issues.

8.3  What is Happening?

8.3.1 The response to missing children has been a continual focus for Specialist 
Children’s Services and the practice, processes and structures within the service 
and its partners are being continuously improved to ensure Kent’s children are 
being kept safe.

8.3.2 As part of the recent Police restructure, Missing Children Exploitation Teams 
(MCET) have been set up. There are 3 area teams focused particularly on the risk 
to missing children. This should ensure that there is greater awareness of the risk 
of exploitation to missing children as well as the specialist skill to work with these 
children.

8.3.3. The Young Lives Foundation offer (which is available to young people to have 
independent returner interviews) is being extended to offer extra returner interviews 

Page 57



outside of the 3 working day timescales in order to get a more general and 
considered view of why the young person is going missing and what could be done 
about it.

8.3.4 The use of ‘Missing Family Group Conferences (FGCs)’ has been established since 
April 2017. The aim is to get all appropriate people around the child to create a 
safety plan for the young person to prevent them from go missing or, if that fails, 
help them do it in a safe way. Only a handful of children have been through this 
process so far; however there have already been successes. On average, the 
children had 6.1 missing episodes in the 3 months prior to their FGC and 1.8 
missing episodes in the 3 months after their FGC.

8.3.5 The current Lifelong Links and Sense of Belonging projects are also likely to help 
young people who often go missing from care. The Lifelong Links project helps 
looked after children to have contact with appropriate members of their family to 
build positive long-term relationships. This will help reduce the need for these 
young people to run away to seek contact with their family. The Sense of Belonging 
project aims to make young people feel happy and at home in their foster 
placements, which should also reduce their desire to go missing.

9.0 Recommendation

10.0 Lead Officer
Stephen Fitzgerald
Assistant Director – South Kent  
03000 418894
Stephen.fitzgerald@kent.gov.uk

Relevant Director
Sarah Hammond
Interim Director, Specialist Children’s Services
03000 416766
Sarah.hammond@kent.gov.uk

11 Background documents: none

9.1 Recommendation:  The Corporate Parenting Panel is asked to NOTE the 
current practice challenges faced when looked after children go missing and the 
work being undertaken to better understand the circumstances that lead to 
missing episodes and the steps being taken to mitigate risks as much as 
possible.

Page 58

mailto:Stephen.fitzgerald@kent.gov.uk
mailto:Sarah.hammond@kent.gov.uk


Appendix 1: Missing Children’s Process Flow Chart

Figure 1: KSCB process flow chart for children missing from home or care

Page 59



This page is intentionally left blank



From: Roger Gough, Cabinet Member for Children, Young People and Education

Matt Dunkley, Corporate Director for Children, Young People and 
Education

To: Corporate Parenting Panel – 29 January 2018 

Subject: REVIEW AND UPDATE OF THE SUFFICIENCY, PLACEMENTS AND 
COMMISSIONING STRATEGY - 2015-2018

Classification: Unrestricted

Summary: This report provides the Corporate Parenting Panel with an outline of the 
key issues identified to progress with the reviewing and updating of the 
Sufficiency, Placements and Commissioning Strategy.  

Recommendation: The Corporate Parenting Panel is asked to CONSIDER and COMMENT 
ON the proposal to review and update the Sufficiency, Placements and 
Commissioning Strategy 2015-2018

1. Introduction 

1.1 Corporate Parenting Panel supported the Sufficiency, Commissioning and Placements 
Strategy 2015-2018 and this was implemented in summer 2015.  

1.2 Four progress reports have been presented to Corporate Parenting Panel since its 
implementation, with the most recent one being in July 2017. This report provides the 
latest update on progress on the current strategy; it outlines steps to develop a refreshed 
approach to sufficiency strategy and to the commissioning of accommodation for 
Children in Care and Care Leavers. 

1.3 In the summer of 2017, the Assistant Director for Corporate Parenting implemented a 
review of the Sufficiency Strategy to ensure it meets regulatory requirements, and for the 
strategy to be updated to reflect the current and future demand, for current and future 
accommodation needs. We are now working with our key partners to ensure that this 
strategy is fit for purpose and reflects the work of all agencies involved in the delivery of 
accommodation and support services for children and young people. 

1.4 Since the requirement for a sufficiency strategy was first introduced by Government in 
2011, Kent has undergone significant change with the numbers of children in care and 
care leavers including the challenges presented with the significant rise in numbers of 
unaccompanied asylum seeking children and young people in 2015/16. 

1.5 We have recognised that the scope of the Sufficiency Strategy benefits from being 
extended to include accommodation and support options for Care Leavers and 
Vulnerable 16/17 year olds in addition to Children in Care, across both Kent’s Citizen and 
UASC cohort. This will enable a more integrated approach to planning, for all children 
within the cohort and engage key multi agency stakeholders including district housing 
providers and commissioned services (fostering, semi- supported accommodation and 
shared accommodation provision).

2. Financial Implications

Page 61

Agenda Item 12



2.1. The authority makes a significant financial commitment of c £31m to meet its statutory 
responsibilities to provide a sufficiency of accommodation for Children in Care and Care 
Leavers. Increasing sufficiency includes the provision of residential placements, 
independent fostering agency placements and semi-independent/shared accommodation.  
Ensuring the use of the independent sector is achieved at best value for money, supports 
maintaining placement availability within the agreed cash limit.

2.2. All placements made are subject to agreement and review at Assistant Director level 
through the area Access to Resource Panels.  

3. A Review of Current Performance - Sufficiency, Placements and Commissioning 
Strategy (2015-18)  

3.1  The Strategy outlines four challenges; delivery of which is measured by the achievement 
against the eight measures as set out at Appendix 1. Delivery of the strategy will continue 
to be reported on while we review the Strategy and our wider Accommodation offer for 
looked after children and young people.  

3.2 Our approach to meeting the Council’s responsibilities to provide secure, safe and 
appropriate accommodation to children in care and care leavers is centred around the five 
strategic levers that we believe will deliver improvements to sufficiency in Kent. These are:

1. Enhancing early help, prevention and partnership working
2. Further developing in-house foster care services
3. Continuously improving quality of care 
4. Market engagement/development
5. Continuing to build organisational effectiveness

3.3 The table outlined below provides a summary of the challenges and supporting measures 
outlined in the Sufficiency Strategy, which have been in place now for the duration of the 
strategy. As we move forward with a review of the Sufficiency it is likely that these may 
change to reflect the challenges current being faced by the Council in meeting the 
Sufficiency Duty, and will also reflect the role of Early Help and Preventative Services in 
dovetailing with Social Care to prevent children and young people becoming looked after. 

Table 1: Sufficiency Strategy – Key Challenges and Supporting Measures

Challenge 1:  
The need for effective support and practice to 
ensure that as many children as possible are 

able to remain living at home with their families

Measure 1: We will expect to see a constant 
number of Children in Care maintained in the 
context of increased demand and activity

Challenge 2:
Provision of effective support and availability of 
suitable accommodation to meet the needs of 

Care Leavers

Measure 2: We expect to see an increase in 
the percentage of Care Leavers who are  living 
in suitable independent accommodation

Page 62



Measure 3: We expect to see an increase in 
the number of children placed within 20 miles 
of their originating address for Children with 
Disabilities and those in the west of the county

Measure 4: We expect to see the  percentage 
of children remaining in the same placement 
for two years to remain stable

Challenge 3:  
Access to high quality placements that support 
children in care to have stability and to achieve 

positive outcomes

Measure 5: We expect to grow and diversify 
the skill, capability and capacity of our in house 
foster carers
Measure 6: We expect to see a reduction in 
the number of  Children in Care that have three 
or more placement moves per year

Measure 7: We expect to see a continued 
reduction in the length of time it takes between 
entering care of the Local Authority and an 
Adoption Order being granted. 

Challenge 4:
Quality of practice and support to meet the 
needs of Children in Care , improving their 

experience of care and achieving permanence

Measure 8: An increase in the number of 
children in permanent long term fostering 
placements

3.4 The current Sufficiency Strategy performance dashboard is attached at Appendix 1. It 
provides a summary of the current performance (most recent figures as at end of 
September 2017) of the 8 measures outlined within the strategy.

3.5 On the whole, progress against the 8 measures has improved or remained stable, building 
on a gradually improving picture over the last year. There has been a decrease in the 
performance of measure 3 but the Fostering Service have been addressing this issue, as 
outlined in 3.6 below, and continue to do so going forward. 

3.6 In order to improve performance in relation to measure 3 outlined above, Kent Fostering 
have expanded the Specialist Fostering Team for Disabled Children to enhance the 
support package that can be offered to foster carers of disabled children. This has enabled 
the team to facilitate additional workshops, conferences, and training and activity days for 
children, to improve our retention of our existing carers and promote the recruitment of 
new carers into the service. To improve the indicator for the West area, Kent Fostering will 
be doing a targeted recruitment campaign in this area to build up the choice of in house 
foster placements. The West Kent foster carer ambassadors will be supporting this by 
identifying local events and community groups that can be targeted with information 
sessions.  

4. Conclusion

4.1 The review of the sufficiency strategy is KCC’s approach to meeting the statutory 
requirement for local authorities to ensure they plan appropriate provision for all looked 
after children and care leavers.

Page 63



5.  Legal Implications

5.1   The strategy meets the requirements of The Children Act 1989 and all other relevant 
Legislation.

6. Personnel and Training Implications

6.1   There are no personnel and training implications for the review and update of the 
Sufficiency Strategy. 

7.     Recommendations

7.1 The Corporate Parenting Panel is asked to CONSIDER and COMMENT ON the proposal 
to review and update the Sufficiency, Placements and Commissioning Strategy 2015-2018

8.   Background Documents

Kent County Council’s Sufficiency, Placement and Commissioning Strategy, 2015-2018: 
http://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/strategies-and-policies/childrens-social-care-and-
families-policies/children-in-care-sufficiency-strategy

9.   Lead Officer
Charlotte Walker 
Commissioning Officer, Children’s Commissioning 
charlotte.walker@kent.gov.uk 
03000 410422

Lead Director
Sarah Hammond 
Interim Director, Specialist Children’s Services
sarah.hammond@kent.gov.uk 
03000 411488

Page 64

http://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/strategies-and-policies/childrens-social-care-and-families-policies/children-in-care-sufficiency-strategy
http://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/strategies-and-policies/childrens-social-care-and-families-policies/children-in-care-sufficiency-strategy
mailto:charlotte.walker@kent.gov.uk
mailto:sarah.hammond@kent.gov.uk


Appendix One: Sufficiency, Placements and Commissioning Strategy 2015-18 – Performance Summary January 2018

P
age 65



P
age 66



By: Roger Gough, Cabinet Member for Children, Young People 
                               and Education

Matt Dunkley, Corporate Director for Children, Young 
                               People and Education

To: Corporate Parenting Panel – 29th January 2018 

Subject:  PERFORMANCE SCORECARD FOR CHILDREN IN CARE

Classification: Unrestricted

Electoral Divisions: All

Summary:

Recommendation:

The performance Scorecard for Children in Care identifies the key 
performance data and targets that need to be monitored in order to 
promote the best outcomes for children and young people looked 
after by Kent County Council. The latest performance Scorecard 
for November 2017 is attached to this report

Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to 
CONSIDER and COMMENT on the performance data in the 
Children in Care scorecard.

1. Introduction 

1.1 Performance scorecards have been developed within Specialist Children’s 
Services to identify and monitor progress on a range of areas where 
improvements in performance and practice will lead to better outcomes for 
children and young people.

1.2 This report includes the latest Children in Care Scorecard which is for 
November 2017.  

2. Context

2.1 The Children in Care Scorecard has been developed to provide the Corporate 
Parenting Panel with an overview of the key performance measures for 
Children in Care. 

2.2 The report is split into sections and includes a range of performance indicators 
and activity information. 

2.4 The Children in Care Scorecard is currently focused on information provided by 
Specialist Children’s Services.  It is intended that performance reports from 
partners will also be shared with Corporate Parenting Panel so that 

Page 67

Agenda Item 13



performance issues can be further understood across organisations resulting in 
improved outcomes for children and young people.

3.    Summary of Performance – November 2017

3.1 The previous CIC Scorecard submitted to Corporate Parenting Panel was for 
August 2017.  During the period August to November the number of citizen CIC 
increased from 1,408 to 1,428 and the number of Unaccompanied Asylum 
Seeing Children (UASC) decreased from 366 to 331, resulting in an overall 
reduction of 15 children in care in Kent.  The rate of CIC per 10,000 Child 
Population (including UASC) for November 2017 was 53.2, which is below the 
latest published average rate for England of 62.0, and statistical neighbours 
56.1.  Both the England and SN rates are as at March 2017.

3.2 Two of the performance measures in the CIC Scorecard were significantly 
away from the target:

(i)      % of Initial Health Assessments (IHA) taking place within 20 working 
days of a child coming into care.  This is a measure of the percentage 
of IHAs undertaken by Health and performance for November was 73.5%, 
against the target of 90.0%.  There has been a slight improvement since 
the last report in August 2017 when performance was 72.9%.  Included 
within this measure are those where the health assessment has yet to be 
recorded on Liberi and those where the young person has refused.  The 
refusals (16 young people) account for 13.3% of those reported as being 
outside of timescale.  Whilst performance remains below target there have 
been improvements in the year and current performance is 7.3% above 
the position as at March 2017.  These improvements have been obtained 
by greater rigor in the notification process to health, improved 
communication and data sharing.

(ii)      % of cases where adoption was agreed as the plan within 4 months, 
for those children with an Agency Decision for Adoption.  For the 112 
children in this cohort, a sole plan of adoption was made within 4 months 
for 64 children (a cumulative total of 57.1%) which was a decrease from 
61.3% in August 2017.  Of the remaining 48 children, 25 had a decision 
made within 6 months (a cumulative total of 79.4%).  The definition for this 
measure requires adoption to be the sole plan at the 2nd Review, which is 
a maximum of four months of a child coming into care.  For some children 
alternative plans are still being considered after this point, and this will be 
the correct course of action for these children.  Of the 23 children where 
the decision exceeded 6 months: 7 children had their plan changed away 
from Adoption; 3 children were returned to the care of their parents; 7 are 
now in their adoption placements and the remaining 6 are in Foster Care, 
4 of whom have been matched and are preparing to move in with their 
adoptive families. 

3.3 Six performance measures have changed RAG banding between the August 
and November 2017 Scorecards.  Those measures showing improved 
performance are:

Page 68



(i) % Health Assessments held within the required timescale.  
Performance has improved from 84.5% to 88.8%, moving this 
performance measure from a Red to Amber RAG rating and closer to 
the target of 90.0%

(ii) % of Returner Interviews completed within 3 working days for CIC.  
Performance improved from 74.7% to 76.5%, changing the RAG rating 
from Red to Amber.  The locally set target for this measure is 85.0%.  
Unfortunately there is no comparative data available for Kent to 
benchmark its performance against.  Some Local Authorities have 
started to measure completion rates for returner interviews so in 
anticipation of comparative data being available in the future an 
additional measure will be added to future CIC Scorecards showing the 
total completion rate of Returner Interviews for CIC.  For November 
2017 the completion rate was 88.4%.  

(iii) % of Care Leavers we are in contact with.  Performance improved 
from 83.6% to 87.9%, moving this performance measure from an Amber 
to Green RAG rating, and above the target of 85.0%.

(iv) % of CIC team posts filled by KCC Permanent Qualified Social 
Workers (excluding Fostering and Adoption Teams).  This increased 
from 78.5% to 85.9%, moving this measure from an Amber to Green 
banding, and above the target of 85.0%.

Those measures where performance decreased were:

(v) % CIC in Foster Care in KCC Foster Care/Relative and Friend 
Placement.  Performance has decreased from 86.0% to 84.9%, 
resulting in a move from a Green to Amber banding.  Current 
performance is 0.1% away from the 85.0% Target.

(vi) Average number of days between court authority to place a child 
for adoption, and the decision on a match.  Performance has 
decreased from 115 days to 123 days, changing the RAG rating from 
Green to Amber.  As the measure is a calculated for a rolling 12 months 
the drop in performance is a result of the increase in the average 
number of days for September to November 2017 (145 days) compared 
to the average for the same period in 2016 (102 days).   Children 
adopted in the last three months, who were outside of the 121 day 
target, included some children who had been difficult to place but who 
have now been successfully adopted.  The target of 121 days is a 
national target.

4. Recommendations

4.1 Recommendations:  Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to 
CONSIDER and COMMENT on the performance data in the Children in Care 
scorecard.

Page 69



5. Background documents

None

6. Contact details

Lead Officer
Maureen Robinson
Management Information Service Manager
03000 417164
Maureen.Robinson@kent.gov.uk

Lead Director
Sarah Hammond
Interim Director, Specialist Children’s Services
03000 411488
sarah.hammond@kent.gov.uk

Page 70

mailto:Maureen.Robinson@kent.gov.uk
mailto:sarah.hammond@kent.gov.uk


Publication Date: 18 December 2017

SC SCS Management Information

Kent Specialist Children's Services

Children in Care
Performance Report

Produced by

Nov 2017

Page 71



Guidance Notes

The aim of this indicator is to achieve the highest number/percentage possible.

The aim of this indicator is to achieve the lowest number/percentage possible.

The aim of this indicator is to stay close to the target that has been set.

Children in Care Numerator

Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children Denominator

Becoming Looked After Special Educational Need

Other Local Authority Initial Health Assessment

Year to Date (April to March) Qualified Social Worker

Rolling 12 Months Independent Review Officer

Snapshot Placement Order

Annual Special Guardianship Order

Academic Year to Date (Sept to Aug) M Monthly Figure

http://kccbusiness/sites/FSCMI/SitePages/Contact%20Us.aspx 

Direction of Travel

RAG Ratings

Polarity

T

L

H

G

A

R

No RAG Rating
RAG ratings are not applied to activity based indicators.  Also, if the denominator is lower than 5 no 

RAG rating has been applied.

Floor Standard achieved but Target has not been met: Floor Standards represent the minimum 

level of acceptable performance. Floor Standards are set in Directorate Business Plans and if not 

achieved must result in management action

A red rating indicates that the current performance is signficantly away from the target set: Target 

has been achieved

A green rating indicates that the current performance has met the target that has been set: Target 

has been achieved

To access the child level data underpinning the figures in this report or to request reports and/or analysis as a one off 

please log a request through the SCS Performance Management site:

Some of the performance indicators on the scorecard are measured using a Year to Date (YTD) approach - April to 

the end of the current month. For the first few months, it is advisable to treat the results of these indicators with a little 

caution as they are often based on a small cohort of children and therefore the percentages can be easily skewed.   

SGO

PO

Child Level Data and Ad hoc Requests

YTD Data

AC YTD

A

SS

A green arrow indicates that performance has improved this month when compared to last month. 

Depending on the polarity of the indicator, an improvement in performance could either be a 

reduction or increase in numbers/percentage.

Denom

NumCIC

UASC

Key To Abbreviations

A red arrow indicates that performance has worsened this month when compared to last month. 

Depending on the polarity of the indicator, a worsening in performance could either be a reduction 

or increase in numbers/percentage.

An amber arrow indicates that performance has remained the same as last month.

R12 IRO

QSW

BLA

IHA

SEN

OLA

YTD

Produced by: SC SCS Management Information

Publication Date: 18/12/2017 CIC Performance Report - Nov 2017 Page 2 of 9

Page 72

http://kccbusiness/sites/FSCMI/SitePages/Contact Us.aspx


3

% of CIC Cases which were reviewed within required timescales H SS 98.9% G 1,659 1,677 98% 99.3% G 98.9% G
% of Children who participated at CIC Reviews H R12M 95.6% G 4,509 4,717 95% 95.8% G 97.0% G
% of CIC for 18 months and allocated to the same worker for the last 12 months H SS 46.1% A 544 1,181 60% 44.8% R 51.7% A
CIC Placement stability: % with 3 or more placements in the last 12 months L SS 11.5% A 202 1,759 10% 11.7% A 11.8% A 10% *
CIC Placement stability: % in same placement for last 2 years H SS 71.0% G 400 563 70% 69.8% G 71.0% G 68% *
% of CIC Foster Care in KCC Foster Care/Rel & Friends placements (exc UASC) H SS 84.9% A 959 1,130 85% 85.3% G 84.9% A
% of CIC placed within 20 miles from home (exc UASC) H SS 78.4% A 1,073 1,369 80% 79.0% A 78.4% A 87% *

CIC Per 10,000 population aged under 18 (exc UASC) SS 43.2 1,428    330,400 42.5 43.2 57 **

Number of Kent CIC SS 1,759 1,742 1,428

Number of OLA CIC placed in Kent L SS 1,327 1,337

% of CIC for 18 months and allocated to the IRO for the last 12 months H SS 68.1% 804 1,181 67.8% 73.8%

% becoming looked after within 24 months of previous episode L YTD 12.7% 73 576 11.6% 16.1%

% Open to Youth Offending Services L SS 2.2% 38 1,759 2.2% 2.5%

% in P&V placements L SS 5.3% 94 1,759 5.2% 6.6%

% of Kent CIC Placed Outside of Kent (exc Medway) SS 7.8% 137        1,759 7.6% 5.8%

% of Kent CIC Placed Outside of Kent (inc Medway) L SS 14.4% 253 1,759 14.1% 11.3%

No. of current CIC with a permanent exclusion this academic year L AC YTD 0 0 0

No. on a part-time timetable L SS 24 19 24

% of CIC for at least 12mths and aged 16-18 at month end with Education Status of NEET L SS 15.5% 73 470 12.7% 15.1%

% looked after continuously for 12 months with an SEN Statement or Support/EHCP L SS

% of EHCPs Issued within 20 weeks for EHCP referrals made while child was CIC H AC YTD

% of IHA referrals within 5 working days of becoming looked after H R12M 84.8% A 407 480 90% 85.2% G 84.8% A
% of Initial Health Assessments taking place within 20 working days H R12M 73.5% R 333 453 90% 73.0% R 73.5% R
% of Health assessments held within required timescale H SS 88.8% A 1,255 1,413 90% 87.9% A 90.7% G 90% **
% of Dental Checks held within required timescale H SS 88.5% A 1,251 1,413 90% 90.3% G 89.9% A 84% **
% of CIC who turned 18 during the month with a health history completed H SS 91.7% A 33 36 100% 69.7% R 40.0% R

SDQ Average of Questionnaires Completed Since 1st April (for Current LAC) L YTD 13.8 4,196 305 14.1 14.2

% of cases adoption agreed as plan within 4 mths, for those with an agency decision H R12M 57.1% R 64 112 80% 55.6% R - -
Ave. no of days between bla and moving in with adoptive family (for children adopted) L R12M 351.9 G 33,074 94 426.0 352.7 G - - 593 **
Ave. no of days between court authority to place a child and the decision on a match L R12M 123.0 A 11,193 91 121.0 119.1 G - - 223 **
% of Children leaving care who were adopted (exc UASC) H R12M 16.0% G 94 589 15.0% 17.1% G 16.0% G 15% **

% where: 8 weeks from 'adoption being made the Care Plan' to 'Agency Decision to adopt' H R12M 86.6% 97 112 88.9% - -

% of sibling groups that were placed together (where the plan was to place them together) H R12M 84.6% 33 39 83.8% - -

% of CIC with a current Agency Decision, not Placed for Adoption L SS 3.1% 54 1,759 3.4% - -

% who ceased to be Looked After who became subject to a SGO H R12M 4.0% 47 1,165 4.3% - -

% who ceased to be Looked After who became subject to a SGO (exc. UASC) H R12M 7.8% 46 589 8.3% - -

% of Returner Interviews completed within 3 working days for CIC H R12M 76.5% A 760 993 85% 77.2% A - -

Number CIC with Missing Episode started in the month L M 96 86 79

Number of CIC missing episodes started in the month lasting longer than 48 hours H M 16 42 14

Complaints made by CIC (or on their behalf) during the month L M 11 4

Care Leavers in suitable accommodation (of those we are in touch with) H R12M 93.5% G 1,342 1,435 90% 93.5% G 92.1% G 93% **
Care Leavers in employment, education or training (of those we are in touch with) H R12M 65.7% G 943 1,435 65% 65.6% G 50.5% R 56% **
% of Care Leavers with a Pathway Plan updated in the last 6 months H R12M 91.8% G 1,292 1,407 90% 91.8% G 94.1% G
% of Care Leavers we are in contact with (inc UASC) H R12M 87.9% G 1,412 1,607 85% 88.5% G 87% **

Percentage of Current Care Leavers with a Staying Put Arrangement H SS 4.3% 63 1,456 4.1% 7.3%

% of CIC team posts filled by KCC Permanent QSW (exc Fostering & Adoption) H SS 85.9% G 98.7 114.9 83% 84.1% A - -
Ave Caseloads of social workers in CIC Teams (District Teams Only) L SS 15.6 A 1,676 107.1 15.0 15.7 A - -
Ave Caseloads of IROs L SS 64.0 G 1,759 27.5 70.0 68.3 G 53.9 G

* indicates national figures from 2014/15

** indicates national figures from 2015/16

Last month's result

and RAG Status

Data not available due to new system implementation

Children

Education

Health & Wellbeing

Adoption

Care Leavers

Staffing

Missing Children

Complaints

Excluding UASC

N
at

io
n

al
 

P
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 

(E
n

gl
an

d
 R

at
e)

Nov 2017Scorecard

Indicator

P
o

la
ri

ty Data 

Period

Latest Result and 

RAG Status
Num Denom

Target for 

17-18

Produced by: SC SCS Management Information

Publication Date: 18/12/2017 CIC Performance Report - Nov 2017 Page 3 of 9

Page 73



Age Female Male Grand Total Disability Female Male Grand Total

0 28 39 67 Autism or Asperger's syndrome 14 43 57

1 23 11 34 Behaviour 7 40 47

2 18 19 37 Communication 7 18 25

3 11 13 24 Consciousness 8 8 16

4 11 20 31 Hand Function 1 1 2

5 15 22 37 Hearing 3 7 10

6 9 15 24 Incontinence 3 9 12

7 22 23 45 Learning 29 52 81

8 30 37 67 Mobility 12 12 24

9 29 40 69 Personal Care 3 8 11

10 36 52 88 Vision 6 8 14

11 43 53 96 Other DDA 7 14 21

12 40 56 96 None 588 989 1577

13 50 79 129

14 56 78 134

15 69 119 188 UASC? Female Male Grand Total

16 72 180 252 Yes 12 319 331

17 83 258 341 No 633 795 1428

Grand Total 645 1114 1759 Grand Total 645 1114 1759

Nationality Female Male Grand Total Ethnicity Female Male Grand Total

Afghanistani 127 127 A1 - White British 546 672 1218

Albanian 19 19 A2 - White Irish 3 3 6

Bangladeshi 1 3 4 A3 - Any other White background 23 48 71

Belgian 1 1 A4 - Traveller of Irish Heritage 2 2

British 597 738 1335 A5 - Gypsy/Roma 6 9 15

Chinese 1 1 B1 - White and Black Caribbean 12 22 34

Congolese 1 1 B2 - White and Black African 2 9 11

Czech 8 8 B3 - White and Asian 4 5 9

Egyptian 11 11 B4 - Any other mixed background 23 10 33

Eritrean 6 64 70 C1 - Indian 4 4

Ethiopian 6 6 C2 - Pakistani 1 1

German 2 2 C3 - Bangladeshi 1 1 2

Ghana 1 1 C4 - Any other Asian background 3 39 42

Guinean 1 1 D1 - Caribbean 1 1 2

Indian 1 1 D2 - African 13 90 103

Iranian 24 24 D3 - Any other Black background 1 4 5

Iraqi 26 26 E1 - Chinese 1 1

Irish 2 5 7 E2 - Any other ethnic group 5 195 200

Italian 1 1 Grand Total 645 1114 1759

Ivorian 1 1

Jamaican 1 1

Kuwaiti 1 1

Latvian 6 1 7

Lithuanian 1 6 7

Nepalese 3 3

Nigerian 1 3 4

Not Recorded 7 12 19

Pakistani 1 1

Polish 3 3

Portugese 1 1

Slovak 4 11 15

Slovenian 2 4 6

Sri Lankan 1 1 2

Sudanese 7 7

Syrian 1 15 16

Turkish 1 1

Vietnamese 4 14 18

Grand Total 645 1114 1759

Demographic Breakdown for Kent LAC as at 30/11/2017

Produced by: SC SCS Management Information

Publication Date: 18/12/2017 CIC Performance Report - Nov 2017 Page 4 of 9

Page 74



Referrals

Trend Graphs

* Data between Sep 2013 and Mar 2014 is not available as reporting was suspended due to the implementation of a new system.

** An exercise was undertaken to re-open closed cases with care leaver status in 2016 reporting year, therefore, these figures do show an increase

1,000

1,050

1,100

1,150

1,200

1,250

1,300

1,350

1,400

Nov
12

Feb
13

May
13

Aug
13

Nov
13

Feb
14

May
14

Aug
14

Nov
14

Feb
15

May
15

Aug
15

Nov
15

Feb
16

May
16

Aug
16

Nov
16

Feb
17

May
17

Aug
17

Nov
17

OLA LAC in Kent over the last 5 years 

0%

2%

4%

6%

8%

10%

12%

14%

16%

Nov
12

Feb
13

May
13

Aug
13

Nov
13

Feb
14

May
14

Aug
14

Nov
14

Feb
15

May
15

Aug
15

Nov
15

Feb
16

May
16

Aug
16

Nov
16

Feb
17

May
17

Aug
17

Nov
17

% of CIC with 3+ placements in 12 months over the last 
5 years* 

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

3,000

Nov
12

Feb
13

May
13

Aug
13

Nov
13

Feb
14

May
14

Aug
14

Nov
14

Feb
15

May
15

Aug
15

Nov
15

Feb
16

May
16

Aug
16

Nov
16

Feb
17

May
17

Aug
17

Nov
17

LAC over the last 5 years UASC

Citizen

920

940

960

980

1,000

1,020

1,040

1,060

1,080

1,100

1,120

Nov
12

Feb
13

May
13

Aug
13

Nov
13

Feb
14

May
14

Aug
14

Nov
14

Feb
15

May
15

Aug
15

Nov
15

Feb
16

May
16

Aug
16

Nov
16

Feb
17

May
17

Aug
17

Nov
17

LAC placed in KCC Foster Care over the last 5 years 

0

50

100

150

200

250

Dec
14

Feb
15

Apr
15

Jun
15

Aug
15

Oct
15

Dec
15

Feb
16

Apr
16

Jun
16

Aug
16

Oct
16

Dec
16

Feb
17

Apr
17

Jun
17

Aug
17

Oct
17

CIC Placed Outside Kent (exc Medway) 
over the last 3 years 

UASC

Citizen

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

Dec
14

Feb
15

Apr
15

Jun
15

Aug
15

Oct
15

Dec
15

Feb
16

Apr
16

Jun
16

Aug
16

Oct
16

Dec
16

Feb
17

Apr
17

Jun
17

Aug
17

Oct
17

% Leaving Care over the last 3 years 
SGO

Adoption

0

200

400

600

800

1,000

1,200

1,400

1,600

Apr
15

Jun
15

Aug
15

Oct
15

Dec
15

Feb
16

Apr
16

Jun
16

Aug
16

Oct
16

Dec
16

Feb
17

Apr
17

Jun
17

Aug
17

Oct
17

Care Leavers** 
UASC

Citizen

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

500

Dec
14

Feb
15

Apr
15

Jun
15

Aug
15

Oct
15

Dec
15

Feb
16

Apr
16

Jun
16

Aug
16

Oct
16

Dec
16

Feb
17

Apr
17

Jun
17

Aug
17

Oct
17

CIC Placed Outside Kent (inc Medway) 
over the last 3 years 

UASC

Citizen

Produced by: SC SCS Management Information

Publication Date: 18/12/2017 CIC Performance Report - Nov 2017 Page 5 of 9

Page 75



Kent SE SN England

Reading 41.0% 41.0% 38.1% 41.0% 3rd

Writing 49.0% 46.0% 42.1% 46.0% 2nd

Maths 42.0% 37.0% 28.2% 41.0% 3rd

RWM 23.0% 24.0% 25.0% 25.0% 4th

20.0% 16.4% 15.6% 17.5% 2nd

21.4 21.8 23.29 22.8 3rd

-1.16 -1.14 -1.11 -1.14 3rd

15.2% 12.4% 11.7% 10.4% 4th

9.3% 10.3% 9.4% 9.1% 2nd

Key:
GLD  Good level of development SN Statistical Neighbours

RWM  Reading, Writing and Maths SE  South East Region

Education Data

Key Stage Measure

Performance

Quartile

Key Stage 2 % at least expected standard

% of Children who have been continuously looked after for 12 months with at least 1 fixed term 

exclusion from school

% of children looked after who are classed as persistent absentees

Key Stage 4

% A*- C in English & Maths

Attainment 8

Progress 8

Produced by: SC SCS Management Information

Publication Date: 18/12/2017 CIC Performance Report - Nov 2017 Page 6 of 9

Page 76



Data source: VSK. Figures shown are number of children

Multiple Attendance Factors October 2017 Multiple Attendance Factors November 2017

LAC on RTT with Multiple Factors October 2017 LAC on RTT with Multiple Factors November 2017

Cohort 19 Cohort 24

Key: 
CSE  Child Sexual Exploitation PA  Persisent Absence RTT  Reduced Timetable
Exclusions figures include children with temporary suspensions

Education Factors for Kent LAC as at 30/11/2017 and comparison with previous month

Produced by: SC SCS Management Information

Publication Date: 18/12/2017 CIC Performance Report - Nov 2017 Page 7 of 9

Page 77



Definition

Dec 16 Jan 17 Feb 17 Mar 17 Apr 17 May 17 Jun 17 Jul 17 Aug 17 Sep 17 Oct 17 Nov 17 Ave

+8.4% +7.0% +4.9% +3.8% +2.1% +0.6% +0.7% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% +2.3%

This is an improving indicator.  There are robust partnerships in place between Health and SCS to deliver and ensure 

there is ongoing scrutiny of the timeliness and capacity for initial health assessments.  This partnership is delivering 

improvements to the completion of the health assessments.  Both agencies are aware this focus and scrutiny needs 

to continue so this indicator moves to a 90% completion rate. 

The provider is subject to an Improvement Notice.

PID Reference

Current RAG Red - 73.5%

Of the Children in Care who became looked after and therefore whose Initial Health Assessment was 

due in the period, the percentage of those whose Initial Health Assessment took place within 20 

working days of the date they became looked after.

Commentary

Last 12 months

% Difference between exc. 

and inc. UASC

Number of children whose Initial Health Assessment took place more than 20 working days after their period of care started 

by age and legal status

% of Initial Health Assessments taking place within 20 working days

Theme Health & Wellbeing

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

RAG - Red Zone RAG - Amber Zone RAG - Green Zone Kent exc. UASC Kent inc. UASC

3 6 

26 26 

29 

8 

15 

7 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

0-4Yrs 5-9Yrs 10-15Yrs 16+Yrs

In Care Accommodated

143 

66 66 58 

32 

14 
41 

33 

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

180

200

0-4Yrs 5-9Yrs 10-15Yrs 16+Yrs

No Date Recorded Outside Timescale Within Timescale

Produced by: SC SCS Management Information

Publication Date: 18/12/2017 CIC Performance Report - Nov 2017 Page 8 of 9

Page 78



Definition

Commentary

PID Reference A01

Current RAG Red - 57.1%

% of cases where Adoption was agreed as the plan within 4 months (Children 

with an Agency Decision)

Theme Adoption

5 Year trend graph (Dec 12 - Nov 17) Last 12 months

Number of children where adoption wasn't agreed as the plan within 4 months by age and gender

Number of children where adoption wasn't agreed as the plan within 4 months by how many months it took for to be agreed

The definition for this measure requires Adoption to be the sole plan at the 2nd Review, which is a maximum of four months 

after a child becomes ‘Looked After’ by the Local Authority.   Some children will however have had more than 2 reviews within 

this timescale.  For a number of children alternative plans were still being considered at the second review and this will be the 

correct course of action for these children as reunification to parents or extended family options will be being considered.

For 48 children over the rolling 12 month period a decision on Adoption as the plan for permanence was not agreed by four 

months of them coming into care.  For 18 of these children the decision was in the fourth month, so just outside of the timescale.  

Timeliness of decision making in the adoption process is closely tracked by the Adoption Service who will escalate any concerns 

to the relevent Service Manager.

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

RAG - Red Zone RAG - Amber Zone RAG - Green Zone Kent

50%

55%

60%

65%

70%

75%

80%

85%

90%

95%

100%

Adtoption not agreed as sole 
care plan 

2 
4% 

4th month 
18 

37% 

5th month 
7 

15% 6th month 
7 

15% 

7th month 
4 

8% 

8+ months 
10 

21% 

9 

5 5 
2 

4 
2 

5 

7 

3 

2 
1 

2 

1 0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7

Female Male

Produced by: SC SCS Management Information

Publication Date: 18/12/2017 CIC Performance Report - Nov 2017 Page 9 of 9

Page 79



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Minutes of the meeting of the Panel held on 9 November 2017
	Thursday 9th November 2017 - CPP Report

	8 Corporate Parenting Challenge Cards
	9 Verbal Update by Cabinet Member
	10 Virtual School Kent (VSK) Overview Report 2015-16 (validated results) and 2016-17 (un-validated results)
	Item 10 Appx - VSK Overview Report

	11 Young People Missing from Placement
	12 Review and Update of the Sufficiency, Placements and Commissioning Strategy 2015 - 2018
	13 Performance Scorecard for Children in Care
	Item 13 Appx - CIC Performance Report - Nov 2017


